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This Annual Report details the administration of the North Queensland
Land Council Native Title Representative Body Aboriginal Corporation
(NQLQ). It summarises the operation of the Corporation and its
financial, corporate, and legal performance for the period 1 July 2024 to
30 June 2025.

Public availability of the report
This Annual Report is available on the North Queensland Land Council
Website at: https://nglc.com.au/

Contact Details:

Postal Address: PO 679, Cairns North, QLD 4870
Telephone: 07 4042 7000

Toll Free: 1800 714 779

Email: reception@nglc.com.au

Disclaimer:

Every effort has been made to ensure this document is accurate,
reliable, and up to date at the time of publication. The North Queensland
Land Council Native Title Representative Body Aboriginal Corporation
has also made every effort to ensure this Annual Report does not
contain material of a culturally sensitive nature.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people should be aware that this
publication may contain images or names of people who have passed
away.

Preparation of this report is funded by the National Indigenous
Australians Agency.

All featured artwork and images are copyrighted:© by the artist and/or
photographer. The use of any artwork and images from this report is
prohibited unless prior written permission from the artist and/or
photographer is obtained.
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‘My Country’

by Marita Budden
Story:

This painting is mapping my traditional homeland.

Jirrbal Country is a vast and diverse landscape made up of the wet tropics’ rainforest, and dry
tropics, extending into some Savannah areas.

The designs of shapes, lines, dots and various colours depict uneven landscapes and terrain,
which intertwine with gullies, creeks and rivers winding through, and connecting with major water
courses representing my country. Elements in the painting depict aspects of culture and family;
Families living in close proximity still rely on their traditional foods and cultural practices, such as
fishing, hunting, weaving and making artifacts.

The dots and lines that make up the inner painting are the different types of soils and vegetation of

country.
The white dots have a significance to the White Cockatoo (Gayambula) which is the totem for

Jirrbal people on the tablelands.

The blue, green and white around the borders represent the seasons, mountains, hills and low
cloud that surround Jirrbal country.

The light blues represent rivers, creeks, small lakes and lagoons.

The greens represent different types of forest, trees and vegetation.

Plants and animals represent the foods found on country, depending on the season. for example,

The fish, turtle, eel, berries and plants.
The brown dots within the circles represent connections among families and clan groups.

North Queensland Land Council
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About the Artist:

Marita Budden is a proud Aboriginal woman born
and raised on the Atherton Tablelands in Far North
Queensland. She is the daughter of Kevin and Elsie
Go Sam, respected Aboriginal pioneers in the tin
mining industry of Silver Valley near Herberton
during the early 1950s.

Marita’s cultural heritage is deeply rooted in the
Jirrbalngan (Jirrbal) and Ngadjan-jii (Ngadjan)
rainforest peoples of the Tablelands. Her connection
to Country and community has remained strong
throughout her life, as she continues to live, create,
and raise her family on the Tablelands.

Her artistic journey began in the early 1970s as a passionate hobby, when she won first prize for
best abstract art at the local show. Inspired by the creative talents of her parents, Marita’s practice
evolved into a vibrant expression of culture, nature, and storytelling.

Her body of work spans painting, jewellery, badge making, textile crafts, greeting cards, and
souvenirs. Many of which feature designs by her younger sister and other family members. Marita’s
style is contemporary with traditional influences, blending abstract patterns and themes that reflect
Country landscapes, native flora and fauna, and bush food sources.

Through her art, Marita seeks to inspire, enrich, and enlighten those who share a passion for
creative expression, nature, and cultural diversity. Her work is a celebration of identity, resilience,
and the enduring beauty of Aboriginal culture.

Connect with Marita

@ www.indigitelexpressions.com

O | indigitelexpressions

n Marita Budden

indigitelexpressions@gmail.com

Scan the QR Code to visit her website.

North Queensland Land Council 4
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The Hon Malarndirri McCarthy
Minister for Indigenous Australians
Parliament Housa

Canberra ACT 2600

Dear Mimister,

It is with pleasure that | present to you the North Queensland Land Council Mative Title
Representative Body Aboriginal Corporation’s (NQLC) Annual Report for the penod 1 July 2024 to
30 June 2025.

This Annual Report demonstrates NQLC's ongoing work to build on its proud history of
achievements since its establishment in 1976. Foremost amongst NQLC's activities is our
commitment to, and delivery of, Native Title Representative Body statutory functions as required
under the Native Title Act 1993 and the NIAA Program Funding Agreement. The past 49 years have
been no exception o NQLC'S record of solid performance.

| look forward to continuing our work to realise the long-held aspirations of the Aboriginal people of
the North Queensiand Region to regain and enjoy their rights to land and sea_ not only to presenie
their culture, but to access increased opportunities to achieve a better future.

Yours sincerely,

Aa
L
Leon Yeatman

Chiaf Executive Officar
Morh Queaensiand Land Council

North Queensland Land Council o 8
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Our Footprint

The North Queensland Land Council (NQLC),
with funding support from the National Indigenous
Australians Agency (NIAA), is proud to serve one
of the most diverse and breathtaking regions. Our
representative area stretches from the ancient
rainforests of the Daintree and the rugged country
northwest of the Bloomfield Rivers, down through
the rolling landscapes south-east of Ilbilbie and
west of Hayden, and out across the waters of
Australia’s Exclusive Economic Zone.

Croydon

NQLCNTRB
REGION

Richmond

This vast footprint brings together a wide network
of local government authorities, including
Burdekin, Cairns, Cassowary Coast, Charters
Towers, Croydon, Douglas, Etheridge, Flinders,
Hinchinbrook, Isaac, Mackay, Mareeba, McKinlay,
Palm Island, Richmond, Tablelands, Townsville,
Whitsundays, and Yarrabah. Each plays a part in
shaping the story of our region and supporting the
communities we represent.

Our representative area is as beautifully diverse
as the cultures that call it home. From the
turquoise waters and coral gardens of the Great
Barrier Reef, along pristine coastlines and
through dense tropical rainforests, to the golden
plains and rugged uplands of the west, this land is
alive with diversity. Across seven remarkable
bioregions: the Central Queensland Coast,
Brigalow Belt, and Wet Tropics of the coast and
uplands; the Einasleigh and Desert Uplands
inland; and further west, the Mitchell Grass
Downs and the Gulf Plains of the Savannah.
Every place holds its own story, interwoven with
the heritage of its people.

The Indigenous populations are most prominent
along the coast, gradually dispersing as you travel
inland. Among them are the two Deed of Grant in
Trust (DOGIT) communities of Yarrabah and
Palm Island, proudly governed by their own
Aboriginal Shire Councils. Beyond these centres,
in addition, there are strong Indigenous
populations in Townsville/Thuringowa, Cairns,
Mackay, Innisfail, Mareeba, Burdekin, Charters
Towers, Mossman, Bowen, Atherton, Sarina,
Ingham, Tully, Cardwell, Richmond, Nebo/Mirani,
Herberton, Ravenshoe, Kuranda, Mount Garnet,
Croydon, and the Jumbun Community.

K"

{

\
\

NQLC'’s footprint covers approximately

with 411,164 km? being land

North Queensland Land Council 10
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Roles & Functions

Legislation

The primary legislation guiding the work of the
North Queensland Land Council (NQLC) is the
Commonwealth Native Title Act (1993), which
sets out the statutory functions of a Native Title
Representative Body (NTRB). In representing
native title claims, the NQLC also operates under
the Native Title (Queensland) Act (1993) and
other relevant federal and state legislation.

Established on 28 March 1994 under the former
Aboriginal Councils and Associations Act 1976,
the NQLC is now registered under the
Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander) Act 2006 (CATSI Act).

As a corporation, the NQLC must comply with the
requirements of the CATSI Act and relevant
corporations law, including matters relating to
governance, the holding of Annual General
Meetings (AGMs), and the preparation and
presentation of annual financial statements.

Like all organisations, the NQLC is also subject to
a broad range of general legislation, including:

o The Commonwealth Authorities and
Companies Act 1997

» Taxation and superannuation laws

o Industrial relations and workplace
legislation

Legislative Functions

As a recognised Native Title Representative Body
(NTRB), the North Queensland Land Council
(NQLC) is entrusted with a wide range of
statutory responsibilities under section 203B of
the Native Title Act 1993 (NTA). These
responsibilities form the foundation of the
organisation’s role in advancing and protecting
the rights of Traditional Owners across the region.

Beyond these core functions, section 203BJ of
the NTA also requires the NQLC to undertake
additional and equally significant responsibilities.
These include:

» Entering written arrangements with
neighbouring NTRBs regarding facilitation
and assistance functions

« Identifying native title holders

o Promoting understanding and awareness of
native title

« Informing native title holders and Prescribed
Bodies Corporate (PBCs) about matters that
may affect native title

« Consulting with Aboriginal communities on
relevant issues

« Cooperating with other NTRBs to improve
efficiency and achieve positive outcomes

Cooperation with  other NTRBs further
strengthens this work, enabling efficiencies and
supporting positive outcomes across the native
title system.

Over recent years, the role of the NQLC has
expanded in response to a growing number of
native title determinations. This has led to a
steady increase in the number of registered
PBCs, corporations created to manage native title
rights once they have been legally recognised.
Recognising the critical role PBCs play in
maintaining and managing these rights, the
NQLC has worked to enhance its support through
approved funding, tailored training programmes,
and practical guidance. By doing so, the
organisation helps PBCs build capacity and
confidence in fulfilling their responsibilities,
ensuring that Traditional Owners are empowered
to make decisions about their land and waters for
generations to come.

North Queensland Land Council
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Key Functions

As a recognised Native Title Representative
Body, the North Queensland Land Council carries
a responsibility grounded in law but lived through
the community. Under section 203B of the Native
Title Act 1993, our role is to assist Aboriginal
people across our region as they pursue

recognition of their native title rights.

Other

Functions

Agreement
Making

Internal

Review

This means guiding claimants through the
journey of making and progressing native title
claims, negotiating agreements that shape the
future use of their land and waters, and helping to
resolve disputes that arise along the way.

Facilitation &
Assistance

Corporate Governance Policies

The function of the Board of Directors (Board) is
to set the broad policies and directions of the
organisation. The rules provide for a separation of
powers, which keeps the Board at arm’s length
from the day-to-day management of the
corporation, which is the responsibility of the
Chief Executive Officer (CEO).

For more details, see the Corporate Governance
section of this report on page 68.

North Queensland Land Council

2024- 2025 Annual REPOIt e0e0ee 000000000000 000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000

12




The Story Behind

Our New Logo

Red | The Savannah

The red tones represent the vast Savannah
landscapes of our western footprint and
acknowledging the dry country peoples.

Light Blue | The Sea

This colour represents the sea and the saltwater
peoples of the North Queensland region. It
reflects the shimmering blues of the ocean and
the waves that shape coastal Country.

Blue | The Waterways

The freshwater systems that flow through our
region: rivers, creeks, and wetlands, and the
freshwater peoples within our region.

Green | The Rainforest
Green signifies the lush rainforest regions and the
rainforest peoples of that area.

Yellow | Future & Growth

Yellow is a forward-looking colour, symbolising
optimism, opportunity, and the bright future we
strive to build through native title recognition and
economic development.

The Fern | Tropical Plants
The fern symbolises the beautiful green tropical
plants that thrive in the rainforest.

The Fish | Cultural Diversity Across Regions

At the heart of the design is the cultural diversity
of the regions NQLC serves. It also symbolises
that the Freshwater people are in clear blue with
freshwater fish.

The Eye/ Sun | Transparency & Growth

This central motif carries a dual meaning: it
represents the sun as a source of life and growth,
and the eye as a symbol of transparency, clarity,
and our commitment to accountability in all that
we do.

The Yarning Circles | Core Activities & Values

There are seven yarning circles in total. Four of
the vyarning circles symbolise NQLC core
activities such as native title claims, future acts,

agreement negotiation, and economic
development, and show that these are all
connected to one another.

The other three yarning circles embody the
visions and values of NQLC, connecting to
present a commitment to preservation,
protection, and promotion of native title.

©

Artist Acknowledgement

We acknowledge and thank Natasha Davui for
creating the original artwork and the cultural story
that inspired our new logo.

We also extend our appreciation to Leigh Harris
from Ingeous Studios, who respectfully adapted
the artwork into a contemporary, modernised
form.

North Queensland Land Council
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Brand Identity

Branding Evolution
The initial branding of the North

Queensland Land Council was
circular in shape, symbolising
wholeness, unity, and a deep

connection to Country. At its centre
was a stylised map of Queensland,
with a focus on the northern region
where NQLC operates. Surrounding
the map were silhouettes of people,
animals, and cultural activities: a
figure with a spear, dancing figures, a
person fishing, and a large crocodile
standing out against a rich reddish-
brown background. In 2024 the
decision was made to refresh of the
logo.

Brand Logo

The new NQLC logo reflects our
connection to Country and
community. The Red representing
the Savannah and Dry Country
peoples; light blue, the sea and
saltwater peoples; blue, freshwater
systems and communities; and
green, rainforest peoples and tropical
plant life. Yellow symbolises growth
and opportunity, while the eye/sun
stands for transparency and vision.
The fern highlights rainforest flora,
and the fish represents cultural
diversity across our footprint. Seven
yarning circles reflect our core
activities and values.

Corporate Branding

The horizontal branding is used for
versatility across digital and print
platforms, ensuring clarity and
consistency in professional settings.
The stacked version, with the name
beneath the logo, is used where
space is limited.
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Board Representation

NQLC’s Board operates under a ward-based
system to ensure fair and inclusive representation
across our geographic footprint. Directors are
elected by members within each ward, typically
serving a two-year term from the conclusion of
one Annual General Meeting (AGM) to the next
held two years later.

Ward Elections

2024 Annual General Meeting

NQLC held its 2024 Annual General Meeting on
30 November in Cairns. Reports from Deputy
Chairperson Sarah Addo and CEO Leon Yeatman
were formally accepted by members, alongside
the Annual Financial Report presented by Helen
Wilkes of Grant Thornton Australia Limited. NQLC
received an unqualified audit report, reflecting
strong financial management and governance.
Grant Thornton was reappointed as auditors for

. . . , the 2024-2025 financial year.
No ward elections were held during this reporting y

perlo.d. In accordance with the NQITC Rule Book, To read more about the 2024 Annual General
elections across the organisation’s 10

. ) ) Meeting, refer to the Chairperson’s Report on
representative wards will take place in the second age 22
half of 2025 to appoint Directors for the 2025- P '
2027 term.

Directors as at
30/06/2025

Sarah Addo
Warren Martens

Directors as at
30/06/2024

Sarah Addo
Warren Martens

NQLC Representative Wards

Cairns Ward

Charters Towers/ Hughenden Ward Richard Hoolihan Richard Hoolihan

Innisfail Ward Rona Hart Rona Hart

Patrick Wheeler -

LRI L Position filled on 30" May 2025

VACANT

Palm Island Ward Alf Lacey Alf Lacey

Joann Schmider
Shannah Richards -
Position filled on 30" May 2025

Tablelands Ward Joann Schmider

Jacob Cassady -

Tully Ward Position filled on 30" May 2025

VACANT

Townsville/ Ayr Ward Angie Akee Angie Akee

Office Bearers 2024 2025

Chairperson Angie Akee Angie Akee

Deputy Chairperson Sarah Addo Sarah Addo

Treasurer Alf Lacey Richard Hoolihan

Errol (Mala) Neal Joann Smchider

Correspondence Secretary

North Queensland Land Council
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Angie Akee - Chairperson
Townsville Ward

Joann Schmider - Corr Secretary
Tablelands Ward

Warren Martens - Director
Cairns Ward

Sarah Addo - Deputy Chairperson
Cairns Ward

Richard Hoolihan - Treasurer
Charters Towers/ Hughenden Ward

Shannah Richards - Director
Tablelands Ward

North Queensland Land Council
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Patrick Wheeler -'Director Jacob Cassady- Director
Mt Garnet Ward Tully Ward

o

Errol (Mala) Neal - Director Rona Hart - Director
Yarrabah Ward Innisfail Ward

@

Gary Mooney - Director Alf Lacey - Director
Mackay/ Proserpine Ward Palm Island Ward

North Queensland Land Council 18
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Chairperson’s
Report

Chairperson Angie Akee reflects on a year of strong governance,
community engagement, and progress in advancing native title rights.
NQLC welcomed new Ward Representatives, reaffirmed its Executive
Committee, and maintained an unqualified audit. Strengthenec
partnerships, including the Queensland Repre

continue to drive advoca
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Chairperson’s
Report

Wada-mooli - Hello,

On behalf of the Board, | am honoured to present
this Annual Report, reflecting on our shared
journey throughout the 2024-2025 financial year.
| begin by acknowledging the Traditional Owners
across the North Queensland Land Council’'s
representative footprint. We recognise their
enduring connection to land, waters, and culture,
and pay our respects to Elders past, present, and
emerging. Their strength and leadership continue
to guide our work and inspire our vision for the
future.

| take this opportunity to acknowledge those
members dearly departed during the past year. On
behalf of the Board, | extend our deepest
condolences and heartfelt sympathies to the
families and communities who are grieving. We
honour their lives and legacy, and we stand with
you in remembrance and respect.

Welcoming New Directors

This year, we also acknowledged the ongoing
dedication of our existing Directors, who continue
to serve their wards with cultural insight,
leadership, and a strong commitment to native
titte advancement. Their efforts have helped
shape the strategic direction of NQLC, and we
thank them sincerely for their service.

During the 2024-2025 reporting period, we were
pleased to fill several vacant Ward Representative
positions in May 2025. On behalf of the Board, |
warmly welcome our newly appointed Directors:

o Patrick Wheeler - Mt Garnet Ward
Representative
« Shannah Richards - Tablelands Ward
Representative

« Jacob Cassady, representing the Tully Ward

We look forward to their contributions and the
unique perspectives they bring to the governance
of NQLC and the communities they represent.

North Queensland Land Council
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Executive Committee
Appointed

The selection of the Executive Committee of the
Board took place at the ordinary Board meeting
held on Monday, 16 December 2024. The newly
appointed Executive Committee is as follows:

o Chairperson — Director Angie Akee

« Deputy Chairperson — Director Sarah Adoo

» Treasurer— Director Richard Hoolihan

« Correspondence Secretary — Director Joann
Schmider

The Board extended its thanks to the outgoing
Executive Committee members for their service
and formally transitioned to the new leadership
team.

Annual General Meeting

& Financial Reporting

NQLC held its 2024 Annual General Meeting
(AGM) on 30 November 2024 in Cairns. During
the meeting, the Chairperson and Chief Executive
Officer reports were presented by Deputy
Chairperson Sarah Addo and CEO Leon Yeatman,
and were formally accepted by the membership.

The Annual Financial Report for the year ending
30 June 2024 was tabled by Helen Wilkes, Auditor
and Partner at Grant Thornton Australia Limited,
and also accepted by members. Continuing our
strong record of financial performance, NQLC
once again received an unqualified audit report for
the reporting period. This outcome reflects our
commitment to sound financial management,
robust risk oversight, and effective accounting
practices.

Grant Thornton was reappointed as NQLC’s
auditors for the 2024-2025 financial year. The
Annual Financial Report for the year ending 30
June 2025 will be presented at the 2025 AGM.

Strategic Engagement

We have strengthened our strategic engagement
through the Queensland Representative Body
Alliance (QRBA). This alliance has amplified our
collective voice in advocating for native title rights
and post-determination support, ensuring our
communities are recognised and resourced to
build sustainable futures.

Strategically, the North Queensland Land Council,
alongside other native title bodies across
Queensland, has been recognised as one of the
largest and most effective organisations in
securing native title rights and interests for our
people. This recognition reflects the strength of
our governance, the depth of our cultural

knowledge, and the unity of our purpose.

21 North Queensland Land Council
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Future Visions

The Board is focused on strengthening
opportunities for Indigenous economic
independence across North Queensland. A key
priority is establishing an economic development
arm within NQLC to support Prescribed Bodies
Corporate (PBCs) and other constituents in
pursuing sustainable economic growth in the
country. This initiative will be progressed in close
collaboration with the CEO and staff to ensure
that communities are equipped with the tools and
resources to succeed.

NQLC intends to be a strong political voice,
advocating for Federal, State, and Local
Governments to take greater responsibility in
supporting Traditional Owners after native title
determinations. Securing financial resources to
enable our people to build economic sustainability
on their lands remains essential.

Educating the broader community about the
purpose and significance of native title will
continue to be a major focus. Our professional
teams will work across a wide range of sectors,
including government, industry, tourism, and the
wider business community, to raise awareness,
foster partnerships, and encourage recoghnition of
native title rights. We aim to ensure that those who
hold determinations are well-positioned to partner
with the private sector and receive the
acknowledgement and support they deserve.

North Queensland Land Council

Governance Growth

Board members have actively engaged with their
communities and PBCs, ensuring that traditional
owners are represented and heard. We propose
biannual forums with RNTBCs and common law
holders to foster stronger relationships and
shared decision-making.

We acknowledge the continued valued
partnerships with ORIC and NIAA. Good
governance remains central to our mission, and
we are committed to training and legislative
awareness to support our members and
communities.

| extend my deepest gratitude to our members,
staff, and communities for
their unwavering support.
Together, we honour our
past, strengthen our
present, and build a
future grounded in
culture, rights, and
opportunity.

oy AL,

Chairperson
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Wanjirra - Hello,

This report covers the reporting period from 1 July
2024 to 30 June 2025.

In this report, | will cover key activities,
performance outcomes, and acknowledge our
achievements. NQLC has continued to make
progress toward its goals through current work
plans. Our work continues to pursue the
aspirations of native title recognition.

Through leadership, teamwork, and accountable
actions, we are dedicated to the task and working
from a solid foundation, which allows each
representative to do their work confidently, with
diligence and authority.

It is now my third year — wow, time goes fast. It is
an absolute privilege to occupy the role of NQLC
CEO. | am honoured to serve the Board, our
members, and lead the staff here at NQLC. The
past two years at the helm were focused on
consolidation, review, and renewal. This work is
near completion, and | am excited about our
prospects. And if all goes to plan, | see myself
continuing to drive success for NQLC.

The mindset applied during the period has been
open, agile, and committed - ‘consolidation
through active participation'. NQLC continues to
pursue our work goals, we are connected to our
partners, our values are promoted, there are
shared responsibilities, and the energy being
generated is positive.
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Key Activities

Our key operational focus remained on the priority
areas for our Corporate Service tasks, Claims
work, and PBC support initiatives. The Chief
Financial Officer, Annette King, the Principal Legal
Officer, Jasmin Phillip, and the Engagement
Development Support Team Manager, Jules
Taylor, will offer separate reports on the specific
operational departments of NQLC.

In 2025, the key activities have been classified as
Operational (the work of NQLC staff) and
Strategic (the work of the NQLC Board).

From the CEO, my operational focus has centred
around our Board Relationship, Management
Leadership, Human Resource Management,
Organisation Culture, Enterprise Agreement,
Organisation Policy, Planning (Activities and
Events), IT systems, Finance systems, Data /
Information Management, Communication, and
Stakeholder Engagement. Engagement has been
open and transparent, with a willingness to
explore opportunities and work to guarantee
success.

The leadership team at NQLC has been stable
during the last year. It has been great to have all of
the senior leadership positions and management
roles filled. Stability at the top has promoted
confidence through teamwork. What has also
developed is a clear plan for the future. The net
effect of having positions filled has meant
workload can be properly allocated — the ever-
present risk of work overload is now being
managed.

The human resource of any organisation is its
most valuable asset — | am proud to say that each
employee at NQLC is talented, committed, and
awesome. Each employee is appointed on merit
through external recruitment and internal
promotion as a recruitment procedure. The sector
has felt the pressure of finding and retaining talent
— NQLC has experienced firsthand the pressures.
Management continues to explore options to
improve recruitment outcomes and find talent.

The organisational culture is the glue that binds
the organisation; the staff vacancies required a
strategy rethink to change the result. Positively,
there has been a shift because of new team
members. Trust is up, clarity is returning, and
confidence is high. Through my leadership, we
have increased attention on interpersonal
relations and meaningful actions. Attention will
continue to focus on enhancing our organisation
culture and supporting staff work performance -
will recognise skills development, confirm career
pathways, and promote service excellence.

We understand that when the processes and
procedures are working and staff can concentrate,
NQLC is the place to be.

e

Rulebook Review
Member Consultation

The review process for NQLC’s rulebook
(consolidated 2017) continued during the year.
Plans to resolve the project within a year were
disrupted by coordination and scheduling
challenges. The plan to engage members about
the proposed rule changes and seek member
feedback was honoured with consultations
implemented across all 10 wards.

©

&

The methodology involved both staff and Board
representatives attending locations and making
presentations about the ‘proposed rulebook’. The
responses were converted into an amended
version and presented to the Board. The newly
endorsed ‘Proposed Rulebook’ will then be sent
to members for final comment and considered for
endorsement at an AGM. If approved, the
member-endorsed ‘proposed rulebook’ will be
sent to ORIC as per the CATSI Act 2006 (with
amendment) for Registrar approval.
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An amended draft was developed but not
authorised for dissemination. On meeting with the
Registrar of ORIC, Ms Tricia Stroud, she made it
clear that "the members of an organisation are
most important" in the process. NQLC has worked
hard to ensure member engagement during the
review process. All member comments supplied
have been mcluded in the drafting.

’;-‘w\

2024 Policy Review

NQLC's policy review process continued during
the year. Most policies still have 2016 time
stamps. The work is being coordinated through
the teams and policies approved by the Board and
the CEOQ, respectively.

The process for periodic policy review is being
implemented to promote business efficiency and
help ensure the currency of our policies contained
on the register.

Planning
(Activities & Events)

The task of planning and hosting events
continued as a key function of our Claims and
EDST Teams. The members continued to engage
with applicants and PBC groups to facilitate
engagement and secure important decisions for
groups.

The details of events hosted by NQLC will be
contained in the PLO and EDST Manager’s
reports. Credit is given to Shelique Young and
Cherona Walker, who, as a dynamic team,
organise the preparation and perform key roles
before, during, and after these events. The
addition of the Media Officer, Reilly Wilson-Neil,
has boosted our media content creation, image
capture, and messaging.

NQLC is committed to ensuring a memorable
event and keeping recordings for future reference.
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Information Technology
Systems

Our Information Technology (IT) systems have
been thoroughly reviewed since the appointment
of IT EDRMS Officer Michael Stoddart. Michael
has helped develop the procedures to transition to
MS Teams and activate the full features of
SharePoint. Michael has been instrumental in
revitalising our IT system and improving our
metrics and consultations about technical
aspects of our IT needs.

Challenges and risks of cybercrime to our
organisation have been assessed and appropriate
risk mitigation strategies implemented. NQLC
holds in trust valuable information (hard and
digital copies) that needs to be protected. We are
committed to ensuring the appropriate controls
are in place to protect our assets and support our
business operations.

The work commenced through our IT service
provider to address data security issues has
continued. The ever-present risk of cybercrime
has everyone on their toes. NQLC staff all receive
training and notification about cyber awareness.
This process is also monitored to manage risk and
avoid data breaches.

Where to next? The evolution of work and the
introduction of artificial Intelligence will be a focus.
The management team will be developing in-
house policies to keep up with the times.

Y | |
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Finance Systems

The finance system at NQLC has continued to
serve the needs of the organisation. Work
continues to adapt efficient processes and
handling. The combination of new team members
and tools has afforded the right environment for
NQLC to implement changes.

NQLC has transitioned to using the Wiise
application to assist with our purchasing control.

Other adaptations were made to enhance our
employee management process. The
employment hero application has been activated
to accommodate NQLC’s employee management
needs and manage timesheets and leave
applications.

A detailed report is provided by the CFO.

Communication

| have been working with NQLC Media Officer,
Reilly Wilson-Neil, to boost NQLC’s presence
online. Reilly has been very active and keen to
engage with our stakeholders. Since his
commencement in the position, his resume of
work has been filling fast. A young employee, he
adds Gen Z attributes to NQLC and a positive
energy that connects to all people. He has worked
well with his teammate, Executive Assistant,
Halejah Wacando.

During the vyear, Reilly has reinvigorated the
Message Stick, energised the social media feeds,
been involved in meetings, attended
rallies/events, and reliably met with individual
members to capture their stories.

Reilly has overseen this Annual Report and is
responsible for sourcing the front cover and
content image.

NQLC aims to engage members and stakeholders
about content and sharing widely — to promote
success and progress through the work
performed by NQLC.
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270....0 000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000()24-2025Annual Report




Stakeholder Engagement

NQLC has 30 years of service experience in
Native Title service delivery. Our principal
objective “is the relief of poverty, sickness,
destitution, serious economic disadvantage,
distress, suffering and misfortune of Aboriginal
persons, communities and groups within the
area”.

Our engagement has sought to reflect inclusion
and promote opportunities for members. Our
legacy is the foundation of our work, and we
pursue our goals knowing we are continuing in the
footsteps of our elders. 2025 signals our 50™ year
using the name NQLCs was very active in the
Land Rights Movement before the Mabo Decision
(start of Native Title recognition) in 1994. The
Board and staff are planning an event in 2026 to
recognise our legacy and prepare the foundations
for our future.

NQLC continues to pursue opportunities for our
members in the Native Title sector.

NQLC Logo

2025 saw a change in our logo. The new logo
seeks to represent our region and be more
inclusive.

NQLC Media Officer, Reilly Wilson-Neil, helped to
coordinate the logo project, engaging with
stakeholders and implementing the changes into
the organisation. His work on the style guide has
helped the organisation adapt to the changes and
promote our new colours.

Details about the new logo are contained in a
separate heading in this report.

NQLC Enterprise
Agreement Negotiations

Significant progress has been made to address
the NQLC Enterprise Agreement (EA).

The current EA expired in 2021 (negotiated in
2019). The NQLC has continued to operate under
the terms contained in the 2019 EA until a new EA
is approved.

Negotiations for a new EA commenced in 2024,
and whilst it has been slow, momentum has been
generated and quickened the pace as we enter
the final phase.

The bargaining representatives involved in the
negotiation process are acknowledged for their
contribution and input. Their work has ensured
that employee rights have been secured.
Acknowledgement also to the QLC Executive
Management team and consultants from Coopers
Grace Ward Lawyers for their involvement and
advice during the process.

Once finalised, the procedures prescribed by Fair
Work Australia will be applied to take the final
version to employees, secure a vote, and then
registration of the EA through Fair Work.

Wet Season Office Impacts

The 2025 wet season seriously impacted NQLC
services out of our Townsville office. The property
we rent saw a hole appear in the roof and a major
water leak into the office space. The was closed
from 6th February and remained closed at the
time of this report. Mould from the water ingress
and damage to ceiling panels made the office
unsafe to occupy, and was made worse by the
prolonged wet.

NQLC has a duty of care and an obligation to
ensure the safety of our staff. On this basis,
Townsville staff were issued a work-from-home
order.
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Management has been working with our legal
representatives to resolve the tenancy issue.
NQLC is committed to providing a safe workplace
for our team members. As soon as the issues are
remedied, we expect our team members to
resume occupation of our Townsville office.

Queensland
Representative Body
Alliance

NQLC continues to actively participate in
Queensland Representative Body Alliance
(QRBA) meetings. The Chairperson and CEO
have worked with our other QRBA partners to
develop meeting agendas and host meetings.
NQLC remains committed to improving the
dialogue between partners and improving the
dialogue with the Queensland Government.

NQLC will continue to establish a progressive and
working arrangement with the Queensland
Government. The Alliance has already met with
the new minister to offer introductions and
promote an environment where we can work
together. As Queenslanders, we understand the
collective needs. As representatives for First
Nations Queenslanders, we look forward to
constructive dialogue and improvements for our
rights and interests.

National Native Title

Council

NQLC representation and contributions to the
NNTC program continued to be active. The work
to identify and address policy gaps continued. The
return of the Labour Government has ensured the
continuation of the current framework for the
NNTC’s agenda.

The work being coordinated through the NNTC is
very technical and complex. The team working at
the NNTC is dedicated to delivering and
supporting the First Nations Rights Agenda.
NQLC adds value by representing Queensland's
views and sharing information about state-based
decisions and strategy.

NQLC is proud to be an active member and
continuing our association with the NNTC. The
work in our sector relies heavily on collective
participation and active support.

Dhawura Ngilan
Business & Investor
Initiative, Steering

Committee

The NNTC's Business and
continues to grow.

Investor initiative

As CEO, | participated as a committee member of
the Steering Committee and contributed to face-
to-face and online meetings. The program
outlined in the Dhawura Ngilan Business &
Investor Initiative promotes early inclusion of
indigenous stakeholder interest and a business
success strategy. During the reporting period, the
Dhawura Ngilan initiative progressed to the test
phase.

The full story about the initiative is available on the
NNTC website: www.nntc.com.au

1

v
s I

L

North Queensland Land Council

©00000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000 (242025 ANnnual Report



http://www.nntc.com.au/

L1 ST ._-_-“.'j'ﬁ

Sea Country Alliance

Work on the Sea Country Alliance continued again
this year. NQLC remains committed to supporting
the progress of our sea country work and
supporting our traditional owners to secure their
rights to their waters.
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First Nations Council

A new initiative commenced during this year was
the work on the Interim First Nations Council.

The work of the interim council was to form a
group and plan a national gathering. NQLC
realised the opportunity to help guide the
conversation about where to go next for PBCs
and Traditional Owner-led organisations.

A National Gathering was planned for Port
Douglas in September to seek instructions from
attendees about the future direction for the sector.

Details about the First Nations Council can be
found at http://thenationalgathering.au/

The Wet Tropics Regional

Agreement
The Wet Tropics Regional Agreement reached the
20-year milestone this year NQLC was

instrumental in providing legal advice and drafting
assistance to 40 traditional owner signatories to
the agreement.

Representatives were invited to a workshop in
Port Douglas to discuss the program of work and
progress in the sector. The Queensland
Government hosted representatives for a 3-day
workshop and used the opportunity to discuss
current service delivery, aspirations, and the
future.

Traditional Owners remained committed to
securing recognition of our rights and interests in
the Wet Tropics. Members spoke highly of their
developing capacity and partnership programs,
MS, and service delivery.

Traditional Owner members expressed a keen
desire to take on further responsibilities and
promote Indigenous Rights and Interests.

We honour those elders whose names are now
committed to memory. We acknowledge the
pathway set and for their leadership in
establishing this enduring agreement.

NQLC has supported calls for a review of the
Regional Agreement — recognising the past and
promoting a better future.
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Acknowledging our Achievements

2025 has seen a focus on the service and delivery
standards at NQLC. The legacy at NQLC
continues to be upheld with reverence and pride.
We acknowledge our humble beginnings and our
status as one of the 14 Native Title Representative
Bodies and Service Providers operating in the
sector. We recognise the work in our sector as
unfinished, and we are keen to pursue outcomes
for traditional owners in our region.

NQLC stands as a beacon of hope. We are
steadfast in our commitment to secure Native
Title Recognition — applying a measured approach
to achieving positive native title determination
outcomes. There is risk in the work we do, and
every decision reflects our understanding of risk
implications if the correct process is not followed —
our advice is sound and backed by quality
research and technical reporting.

The Leadership of the Board is continuing to be a
work in progress. | acknowledge and thank Angie
Akee for her confidence and support for the year. |
acknowledge the teamwork performed by the
Board and their collective wisdom to chart the
course for NQLC.

| take the opportunity to thank my Executive

Leadership Team for their support during the last
year.
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We have committed to working together and
ensuring a high standard of Operational
Management. Special thanks go to the dedicated
employees of NQLC. Their commitment to serve
is clear, and through respectful engagement and
support, we know the way forward will be a
journey conducted together.

| sign off by thanking our members. we are here to
serve you through structured programs and
activities. Securing recognition

is only part of our work; we
also provide ongoing
support and assistance to
ensure your rights and
interests continue to be
protected.

| commend this report to you.
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Plan

The Strategic Plan 2024-2030 focuses ‘on native title delivery,
governance, leadership, and stakeholder engagement. Key priorities—
including finalising claims, empowerlpg traditional custodians,
strengthening NTRB recognitien, |mp[9vmg communication, and
fostering workforce sation continues to uphold
cultural sensitivi 16y, pro essmnal standards,

p transparency,

Photo Taken by:
Reilly Wilson-Neil
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Performance Outcomes

The strategic plan for NQLC has been updated,

and with the leadership of the Board, they have
set the direction.

'guided by cultural lore and traditional custodian
laws and customs and the principles of the United
Nations Declaration of the Rights of Indigenous

Peoples - free, prior and informed consent of

The core philosophy of the Strategic Plan is: Aboriginal peoples'.

NQLC’s Values are:

Collaborative Good Governance Professional Standard  Transparent Operations
Engagement . Quality, professional service Fair, transparent,
Maximum participation of, Lﬁ]aggrrsg:,gtaengdo?l)éfg gﬁgge in accordance with the accountable, responsible
and collaboration with, practice functions identified in the and just operations and
traditional owners and other ' NTA. processes.
stakeholders in native title
processes.

Cultural Sensitivity Resource Efficiency
Cultural sensitivity, . T
including the respect for Optimum distribution of
traditional lore and customs resources to achieve native
of native title groups. title and other outcomes.

Accountable Practice Responsive Workforce Growth Productive Culture
Honesty, professionalism En_‘"ronment Encouragement and Maintenance of a
and accountability to Fair, transparent, ) promotion of employment, harmonious and productive
traditional owners in the accountable, responsible training and professional workplace conducive to the
delivery of our services. and just operations and development of Aboriginal achievement of native title
processes. people within the region. and other outcomes.
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The key priorities set by the Board as part of the NQLC Strategic Plan 2024-2030 are included in the
tables below. In this report, the status of each sub-strategy will be assessed using the following:

Active - the operational plan and work programs have included this item as part of the ongoing delivery
and review functions.

Inactive - the operational plan and work programs have not included this item as part of the delivery and
review functions.

Completed - Action completed

1 Maintain Recognition as a Native Title Representative Body
= Strengthening NTRB Recognition & Service

Performance Outcomes

Excellence Active

Continuous Improvement Active

Positive relationship with stakeholders and funding bodies Active

2 Finalising Outstanding Native Title Claims
= Advancing Native Title Claims & Compensation

Performance Outcomes

Finalise existing claims Active

Identify and prioritise new claims Active

Identify fresh and saltwater claims Active

Compensation test claim Active

3 Develop Role for NQLC in Post-Determination Environment
= Maintain NQLC'’s Relevance to Stakeholders

Performance Outcomes

Empower traditional custodians Active

Diversify NQLC income and funding Active

Identify growth opportunities Active

Advocacy, self-sufficiency and self-determination Active

4 Improve Communication with Traditional Custodians
= Strengthening Communication & Stakeholder Engagement

Performance Outcomes

Continue to publish the quarterly newsletter Active

IMake presentations to the public and the community about rights and interests of our

. " . Active
region and positive stories

Produce annual reports Active

Utilise other educational materials and programs Active

Develop stakeholder engagement strategy and new partnerships Active
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5 Manage Risk and Regulations

* High Quality Risk Management & Effective

Performance Outcomes

Active

|Update risk, compliance and audit framework Completed

|Ensure CATSI Act, NTA and funding compliance Active

|Imp|ement new rule book Active

|Review of Strategic Plan in 2026. Completed

6 Engage Leadership and Talent
= Leadership ldentification & Talent Development

Performance Outcomes

Improve governance skills of directors Active

Allocate portfolios and improve engagement of directors Active

Maintain separation of powers Active

Induction program for directors Active

Periodic evaluations of directors and board performance Active

Nominations committee for new directors Active

Set training framework for directors and staff Active

Succession plan for directors and staff Active

Recruit and retain traditional custodians Active

NQLC Chairperson and CEO continue to work together to lead the organisation and demonstrate good
governance to our peers and stakeholders. Separate reports for the Claims Team, Corporate Services
Team, and Engagement Development Support Team are contained in the report.
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Review of Strategic &
Operational Performance

The North Queensland Land Council’s
performance for the year ending 30 June 2025, in
line with its statutory functions, is summarised in
the Performance According to Functions &
Outputs table on page 40.

During the 2024-2025 reporting period, one
native title consent determination was made on 6
September 2024; Part A of the Jirrbal People #4
was successfully determined. Further details on
this determination can be found on pages 48 & 49.

100,00000000000

Photo Taken by:
Pascale Taplin

No new native title claims were filed within this
reporting period.

Across the North Queensland region, the total
number of native title consent determinations now
stands at 56. NQLC continues its work on active
and proposed claims, supporting Traditional
Owners in their ongoing journey toward
recognition and management of their lands and
waters.
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PERFORMANCE ACCORDING TO FUNCTIONS & OUTPUTS

THE CLAIMS EXPERIENCE 2023-2024 | 2024-2025
Claimant Applications
Active claims represented by NQLC at 1 July 2024 15 18
Plus Claims filed 1 July 2024 - 30 June 2025 by the NQLC 1 0
Less Claims Determined 1 July 2024- 30 June 2025 3 1
Less Claims Dismissed 1 July 2024 - 30 June 2025 0 1
Less Claims Withdrawn 1 July 2024 - 30 June 2025 0 0
Less non native title outcome 1 July 2024 - 30 June 2025 0 2
Active Claims represented at 30 June 2025 13 13
Number of these registered by NNTT (see note 1) 13 13
Active claims with NQLC representing Indigenous Respondent Party - 1
Active claims with NQLC as a Respondent Party - 2
Active claims externally represented - 2
Claims in Development (Research) Numerous 6
Non-Claimant Applications (as relevant) 4 3
Non-Claimant Applications - NQLC as a Respondent Party - 4
Non-Claimant Applicatiopns - NQLC representing Indigenous Respondent Party - 0
Compensation Claims (as relevant) 0 0
THE AGREEMENTS EXPERIENCE
Section 24 Future Act Notices (FANs) received 839 839
Response to Future Acts 2939 2939
Section 29 Notices received 107 107
Notifications or grant/renewals, etc. received 134 134
Completed 12 12
AEfSemonts: In Development Numerous Numerous
Concluded and Registered 4 4
Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUA) In Development Numerous Numerous
Resolved 0 0
Pending Numerous Numerous
COMPLAINTS AND DISPUTES
Received 3 8
Complaints Resolved 3 3
Pending 0 0
Disputes relating to native title applications 3 3
Disputes relating to ILUAS, rights of access and other matters 0 0
Received 1 1
Requests for Review of decisions not to assist Received
Completed 1 1

Note 1

Note 2

[The NQLC responds to FANs received by:

2. Sending out copies of the notices to the persons appointed by each claim group for the receipt of FANs;
b. Providing strategic advice to groups about the impact of Future Acts;

c. Where instructed, formulating submissions on behalf of claimants to Future Acts; and

reporting periods.

Previous Annual reports have accounted for one claim in the Wakaman proceedings; however, they are three separate but interrelated matters and therefore have been accounted for as three matters.

d. Where a Future Act consists of a notification pursuant to the Mineral Resources Act 1989, that an Exploration Permit is intended for issue with the Native Title Protection Conditions attached, advising claimants
labout the effect of those Native Title Protection Conditions and post issue of the permit assisting groups to implement the Native Title Protection Conditions.

le. Where appropriate, represent native title groups in their negotiations and drafting of future act agreements.
If. The increase in the number of PBCs receiving the notices on behalf of the native title party rather than the individual applicants has seen a reduction in the required number of responses to FANs in the last three
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Claims Team
Legal Unit

The Claims Team comprises the Legal Unit and
Anthropology and Research Units. Team
members are based across the Cairns and
Townsville offices. NQLC’s Legal Unit consists of
the Principal Legal Officer, Deputy Principal Legal
Officer, Special Council, Senior Legal Officer,
Legal Officers, Operations Manager, Paralegal,
First Nations Engagement Officers, and Legal
Administrative staff. NQLC’s Anthropology and
Research Unit consists of the Anthropology
Manager, Senior Anthropologists,
Anthropologists, and a Records and
Administration officer.

When a native title determination application is
represented by NQLC, the Legal Unit manages all
legal aspects of the claim process from
authorisation to determination. This includes, but
is not limited to, claimants’ legal representation in
the Federal Court, facilitating and managing the
logistics of applicant, community, and working
group meetings, and contracting any specialist

Services associated with native title claim activity
as required.

The Anthropology and Research Unit works
alongside Legal Officers, First Nations
Engagement Officers, and Consultant
Anthropologists to undertake anthropological
research to document and progress native title
claims. Anthropologists work with First Nations
Engagement Officers to engage with claimant
groups to document traditional laws and customs
that connect First Nations people to country.

Together, the Legal Unit and Anthropology Unit
assist traditional owners within the NQLC’s NTRB
region with aspects of their native title, including
the progression of applications for the
determination of native title under the Native Title
Act (1993).

North Queensland Land Council
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Anthropology & Research Unit

The Anthropology and Research Unit is a small,
dedicated team of qualified anthropologists who
work in close partnership with Traditional Owners
to support both pre- and post-determination
native title projects across the NQLC region.

Throughout the 2024-2025 financial year, the Unit
played a pivotal role in progressing native title
claims and facilitating intramural processes,
despite operating under reduced capacity. These
efforts contributed to several positive outcomes
aligned with NQLC’s Strategic Plan, Key Priority
Area 2. Finalising Outstanding Native Title
Claims.

Under the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth), claimants
must demonstrate a continuous connection to
Country through traditional laws and customs
dating back to colonisation. Anthropologists are
essential to this process, undertaking rigorous
analysis of archival records, maps, and historical
documents.

¢ ol

-

Sources: conducting interviews; supporting
consultant anthropologists; and working closely
with Traditional Owners to produce
comprehensive reports for submission to the State
of Queensland or the Federal Court.

NQLC’s anthropologists are committed to
ensuring that the voices of the right people for
Country are heard and accurately represented
throughout the native title process. A process that
often spans several years.

Beyond claim-related work, the Unit provides a
range of research services to support Traditional
Owners and Prescribed Bodies Corporate (PBCs)
across the region. The team works collaboratively
with NQLC’s Legal and FAME teams, offering
specialised anthropological advice to assist with
post-determination projects and negotiations
involving PBCs.

North Queensland Land Council
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Developing Capability

This year, the Claims Team has concentrated on
aligning structure with strategic outcomes,
focusing on change with purpose, building
capacity, and empowering our team to support the
NQLC’s overall success. The PLO, in collaboration
with the CEO, created a new role within the Claims
Team of Operations Manager (Claims) to drive
policy and procedural change achieve identified
outcomes for the Claims Team.

The Operations Manager (Claims) position was
recruited in early 2025 and has been successful in
the development and implementation of improved
internal processes to streamline operational and
financial planning,

North Queensland Land Council
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and support leadership and mentoring processes
to ensure the Claims Team has the resources and
environment to achieve annual operational
outcomes, support, and outcomes across all
aspects of native title claims.

This role will continue to focus on addressing
recommendations of the 2025 NOUS Review
Report, improving and documenting processes
and procedures, improving staff recruitment to
support the progress of claims, and clearly
defining training opportunities and performance
development processes for the Claims Team.
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Native Title Claims

Bindal People #2 (QUD 513/2016)

Alec lllin & Ors on Behalf of the Bindal People #2 v State of Queensland

A new native title Applicant was authorised in
December 2024, with an amended Form 1 to be
filed in the matter in the latter part of 2025.

The Separate Question Hearing in relation to the
Indigenous Respondent asserting native title
rights and interests in the Bindal #2 claim area was
heard in Townsville from 31 March to 11 April
2025. The Judgement is yet to be handed down.

Djungan People #5 (QUD811/2018)

Errol Neal & Ors on behalf of the Djungan People #5 v State Minister for the State of

Queensland & Ors

The Djungan #5 native title claim was lodged in
2018 in response to a non-claimant application.
The Djungan #5 claim covers the north-western
portion of Glenn Russell Station, located east of
Mount Mulligan and north of Thornborough.

The past year has seen the Djungan #5 claim
progress to a near conclusion.

The Applicant, the State, and other respondent
parties have negotiated and agreed on the draft
terms of a proposed consent determination. On 30
April 2025, an authorisation meeting was held in
Mareeba, where Djungan people voted to approve
the draft determination. Subsequently, on 28 July
2025, the Applicant filed written submissions and
supporting evidence in the Federal Court in
support of the proposed consent determination.

Djabugay Nation (QUD692/2016)

Bruce Banning & ORs on Behalf of the Djabugay Nation v State of Queensland & Ors.

The claim group previously combined with other
claims to become the combined Djabugay nation
Claim. This year has been one of consolidation
including dealing with respondents and
progressing connection negotiations with the
State of Queensland.

A final response on connection is expected at the
end of 2025, following an authorisation meeting to
be held in October 2025. This year also saw the
Applicant enter into mediation with the remaining
indigenous respondents, which is ongoing.
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Eastern Kuku Yalanji People #2 (QUD356/2022)

Warren Ross-Kelly & Ors on behalf of the Eastern Kuku Yalanji People #2 v State Minister

for the State of Queensland & Ors

Filed in 2022, the Eastern Kuku Yalanji #2 (EKY
#2) native title claim covers an area of country in
the north-east of NQLC’s Representative Body
region. It includes the township of Mossman in the
south and parts of four National Parks, including
the easternmost areas of the Daintree National
Park.

There are nine respondent parties to the claim,
including the Statem, Telstra, Amplitel, Douglas
and Mareeba Shire Councils, three proprietary
interest holders, and one Indigenous respondent.

Court-ordered mediation between the Applicant
and the Indigenous respondent commenced in
March 2025 and is ongoing.

NQLC has engaged an expert anthropologist to
undertake desktop and field research and produce
a comprehensive connection report. Due to
unforeseen delays, the report is now expected to
be completed by January 2026. It will be provided
to the State on a confidential and without prejudice
basis for assessment in accordance with the
State’s connection guidelines.

Gia and Ngaro Peoples (QUD228/2024)

Colin Bowen & Ors on Behalf of the Gia and Ngaro Peoples v State Minister for the State

of Queensland

The Gia and Ngaro Peoples authorised a claim on
9 December 2023, following research and
community meetings held by NQLC.

The claim covers the Whitsunday area, and inland
to the Don River, North to the boundary with Juru.

The claim represents almost a decade of work for
the claim group and should be registered by the
end of July.

The claim has passed the registration test, and
work continues to establish a connection to a level
necessary to satisfy the State, including numerous
field trips and ongoing anthropological work.

Gugu Badhun People #3 (QUD 777/2019)

Ernerst Michael Hoolihan & Ors on behalf of the Gugu Badhun People #3 v the State

Minister for the State of Queensland & Ors

In March 2024, the State of Queensland accepted
the connection, and the parties commenced
negotiations to move the matter towards a
consent determination. A Draft Timetable for
progressing the matter towards consent
determination was circulated in March 2024.

The State of Queensland in August 2024
circulated on a confidential and without prejudice
basis draft s87 Agreement and Consent

Determination document for comment by the
parties. In May 2025, the Gugu Badhun Applicant
and the State of Queensland were referred to
mediation to resolve outstanding issues regarding
the s87 Agreement and Consent Determination
document. It is anticipated that the matter will
remain on track for a consent determination.
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Gudjala People (QUD 121/2023)

Alice Fischer & Ors on behalf of the Gudjala People (QUD 121/2023) v The State Minister

for the State of Queensland & Ors

An Interlocutory Application was filed in May 2024
to remove the current Applicant, substituting a
replacement  Applicant. The Interlocutory
Application was heard in February 2025; the Court
is yet to hand down its decision on the outcome of
the hearing. Until the Court’s decision is delivered,
the matter remains in abeyance.

The Gudjala native title application overlaps the
Jangga People #2 native title application and until
the Applicant issue is resolved the Gudjala and
Jangga People #2 native title claims cannot
proceed.

Gurambilbarra Wulgurukaba People (QUD623/2016)

Virginia Wyles & Ors on behalf of the Gurambilbarra Wulgurukaba People v State of

Queensland

The land claim for this matter remains ongoing,
and subject to the outcome of a separate question
hearing before Justice McEvoy, which was held in
March and May this year, the matter is close to
reaching a consent determination.

GW Mada (QUD176/2020)

The separate question was held to resolve the only
outstanding issues in the matter. It is anticipated
that once a judgment has been received, the
Applicant will engage with the State to finalise the
matter as soon as possible.

Virginia Wyles & Ors on behalf of the Gurambilbarra Wulgurukaba People for the GW
Mada Claim v State Minister for the State of Queensland and Ors

The sea claim for the Gurambilbarra Wulgurukaba
People is approaching its conclusion. A
determination of Native Title is scheduled to be
handed down by Justice McDonald in late July
2025, marking the final step in a long and
determined journey.

The dedication of the Applicant throughout this
process has been greatly appreciated, and North
Queensland Land Council’s role over the past year
has focused on preparing the necessary material
to ensure the Court could move towards this
decision.

Jangga People #2 (QUD 387/2018)

Colin McLennan & Ors on behalf of the Jangga People #2 v State Minister for the State of

Queensland

The NQLC represents an Indigenous respondent
in this matter. There has been extensive mediation
between the Gudjala Indigenous respondent and
the Jangga People.

Jangga #2 native title application remains in
abeyance until the matters relating to the current
Gudjala Applicant and the replacement Applicant
are resolved.
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Muluridji People #3 (QUD824/2018)

Clancy Baker & Ors on Behalf of the Muluridji People #3 and State of Queensland

After a long series of negotiations, the Muluridji
People #3 Claim is now ready to proceed to a
partial determination.

While there are some issues to resolve in relation
to one of the leases comprising the claim, the
majority of the claim is ready for determination,
which should happen in early 2026.

Manbarra People (QUD331/2022)

Walter Palm Island & Ors on behalf of the Manbarra People (QUD331/2022) v State

Minister for the State of Queensland

Lay evidence gathering with Manbarra Elders and
Counsel took place in September 2024. Follow-up
meetings with Manbarra Elders to finalise lay
evidence took place in June 2025.
The Manbarra Applicant is to provide all
connection evidence, which includes video
evidence, statements, and the consultant
anthropologist's report to the State of Queensland
by 30 October 2025.

The Manbarra Applicant has commenced
discussions with the Court and Indigenous
respondents so mediation between the parties
may take place.

Wakaman People #5 Part B (QUD178/2018)

John Alvoen & Ors on Behalf of the Wakaman People #5 v State Minister for the State of

Queensland & Ors

While the majority of the claim has been
determined, ongoing tenure issues in relation a
single parcel are ongoing, although it is hoped
they can be resolved in the next year.

Wallara Peoples Claim

The North Queensland Land Council was a
respondent to this claim, and following an
application brought in February 2024, judgment
was received, ultimately dismissed on 10
September 2024.

The Applicant and the State, as well as other
affected parties, have entered into mediation to
attempt to finally resolve the issues.
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Jirrbal People #4 Part A

& B (QUD983/2015)

E
= P

The Jirrbal #4 native title claim, filed in 2015, covers
traditional Jirrbal country in the Tablelands region of
Far North Queensland, surrounding areas of earlier
Jirrbal determinations.

In March 2022, the Federal Court ordered the
administrative partitioning of the claim into Part A
and Part B. On 6 September 2024, the Federal
Court decided on native title in favour of the Jirrbal
people over part of the Part A area, with the consent
of all parties.

The remaining Part A areas are currently subject to
ILUA negotiations, a hearing on tenure matters, or
further  anthropological research  regarding
boundaries with a neighbouring group.

Indigenous and resulted in

agreement.

respondents an

Following the passing of a member of the Applicant
group in late 2024, a new Applicant was required
under conditions imposed by the claim group. On 15
March 2025, an authorisation meeting was held in
Wondecla where nine lJirrbal people were authorised
to constitute the new Applicant.

An amended Form 1 was then filed in the Federal
Court to reflect the change, which has been accepted
by the Court and has passed the NNTT registration
test.
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Indigenous Respondent Parties

As part of performing its section 203BB NTA
facilitation and assistance functions, NQLC
provides legal services or facilitates external
representation of several Indigenous respondent
parties to native title claims in its region in
appropriate cases that satisfy the conditions of
NQLC’s Service Policy and Applications for
Assistance Policy.

The Indigenous respondents who are assisted by
the NQLC pursuant to this policy during the
reporting year include respondent parties in
Jangga People #2, Bindal People #2,
Gurambilbarra Wulgurukaba, and Gimuy Walubara
Yidinji. The NQLC also assists Indigenous
respondent parties to the non-claimant
applications listed below.

Non-Claimants Applications

Scott Alexander Harris (QUD144/2018)

Scott Alexander Harris v State Minister for the
State of Queensland and Anor

This was a non-claimant application brought over
the Strathmore Pastoral Lease in the Northwest of
the NQLC RATSIB area. Following a trial heard in
early 2024, judgment was provided by Justice
Collier, which determined that native title does not
exist in the area. Given the importance of the
judgment and our disagreement with the
conclusion reached, NQLC appealed the
judgment to the Full Federal Court, where it was
heard by a further three judges. Unfortunately, this
appeal was not successful. NQLC is continuing to
review the outcomes of this decision and what it
means for our constituents moving forward.

Stuart John Propsting (QUD153/2023)

Stuart John Propsting & Ors v State Minister for
the State of Queensland

This non-claimant application was discontinued
by the Applicant, following negotiations with
respondents.

Gunther Family Holdings Pty Ltd
(QUD53/2023)

Gunther Family Holdings Pty Ltd (CAN 609 773
819) v State Minister for the State of Queensland
& Ors

There have been no substantive developments in
the current reporting period. The Applicant and the
Respondent Parties continue to negotiate toward
an agreed outcome. The NQLC has provided
financial assistance to two Indigenous
respondents for external legal representation.

The NQLC is a respondent to this matter but does
not have an active role at this stage.

Clive Reginald Davies (QUD320/2022)

Clive Reginald Davies & Anor v State Minister for
the State of Queensland

The NQLC is a respondent party to this matter.
There are Court Orders in place for the non-
claimant application area to run parallel with the
Gia and Ngaro People’s native title claim
(QUD228/2024).

Walkz Pty Ltd (QUD225/2024)

Walkz Pty Ltd ACN 143339682 v State Minister for
the State of Queensland

The Walkz non-claimant application is filed in the
Southwest of NQLC RATSIB area, near
Richmond. NQLC has become a respondent to
the application in the reporting period, as well as
two indigenous respondents. We have been
working towards engaging in mediation with the
Applicant while reviewing NQLC's approach in
relation to the broader area in which the non-
claimant is situated. It is anticipated that mediation
will occur in the second half of 2025.
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Research & Claim Development

Mulgrave River and Russell River Research
Area (MRRR)

The ‘MRRR’ region describes an area of country
that generally follows the Mulgrave and Russell
Rivers, located south of Cairns and north of
Innisfail. The MRRR region is complex and is
bounded by ten existing native title determinations
and applications. If native title is pursued in the
MRRR research area, these determinations and
applications will frame how new native title
applications are progressed in the region.
Preliminary  anthropological research was
completed for the MRRR region in the reporting
period. Based on this research, the NQLC has
embarked on a comprehensive consultation and
engagement plan with traditional owners in the
MRRR region to ascertain their native title
aspirations.

In the reporting period, for the groups that have
indicated an interest in exploring native title, their
options, the NQLC has focused consultation and
engagement efforts on the resolution of inter- and
intra-group disputes that would impede the
progress of potential native title claims in the
region,, in left unresolved. This work is ongoing.

Southwest Research Area (SWRA)

The Southwest Research Area is a significant area
of country in the south-west region of the NQLC
RATSIB area. It is bounded by the Ewamian and
Tagalaka peoples’ determinations to the north, the
Queensland South Native Title Services RATSIB
to the west and southwest, Yirrendali People’s
determination to the Southeast, and Gudjala and
Gugu Badhun Peoples’ determinations and
application to the east. Based on existing
research, the SWRA notably includes the
traditional estates of at least two groups that have
not yet had a determination of native title. There
are two non-claimant applications within the
SWRA, where NQLC is assisting indigenous
respondents.

Gudjala Upper Burdekin ‘Hell’s Gate’ Research
Area

Preliminary anthropological research has been
completed. Consultation and engagement with
traditional owners regarding claim development
was anticipated to commence in the reporting
period however, this project was paused due to
limited internal resources to undertake this work.

Gugu Badhun Upper Burdekin ‘Hell’s Gate’
Research Area

Preliminary anthropological research has been
completed. Consultation and engagement with
traditional owners regarding claim development
was anticipated to commence in the reporting
period; however, this project was paused due to
limited internal resources to undertake this work.

Tagalaka Consolidation Claim Research

A brief has been prepared to engage a consultant
anthropologist to research to inform the
development of a native title claim to consolidate
the Tagalaka People’s traditional estate in the
central-west region of the NQLC RATSIB area.
This work will commence once a consultant has
been engaged.
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MATTER TYPES

Matter Type Matter Amount

1.Bindal #2 (QUD503/2016)
2.Djabugay (QUD692/2016)
3.Djungan #5 (QUD811/2018)
4 EKY #2 (QUD356/2022)
5.Gia & Ngaro (QUD228/2024)
6.Gugu Badhun #3 (QUD777/2019)
Native Title Claim 7.GW (QUD623/2016) 13
8.GW Mada (QUD176/2020)
9.Gudjala #3 (QUD121/2023)
10.Jirrbal #4 Part A and B (QUD983/2015)
11. Manbarra (QUD331/2022)
12. Muluridji #3 (QUD824/2018)
13.Wakaman #5 Part B (QUD178/2018)

1.MRRA - Mulgrave, Russell Rivers Research Area

Research Area 2.NWRA - North West Research Area 2
1. Gunther Family Holdings Pty Ltd (QUD53/2023)
. . . 2.Harris, Scott Alexander (QUD144/2016)
[Non-Claimant Application 3. Stuart John Propsting & Ors (QUD153/2023) 4
4. Walkz Pty Ltd ACN143 339 682 (QUD225/2024)
. 1.GWY (QUD23/2019)
Indigenous Respondent 2. Jangga #2 (QUD387/2018) 2
1.Jangga #2 (QUD387/2018)
NQLC Respondent 2.Wallara (QUD224/2021) 2
Preservation of Evidence| 1.Ngadjon-Jii 1

Breakdown of Activities FY 2024-2025
‘ Authorisation Meeting
‘ Community Meetings

‘ Applicant Meetings

‘ Court Mediations

‘ Lay Evidence/ Field Work

‘ Family Mettings
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Engagement & Development

Support Team

Future Acts & Mining Agreements

Future act notifications fall into two primary
categories under the Native Title Act (NTA):

o Section 24 notices, where the “right to
comment” is the most common procedural
right; and

Section 29 notices where the “right to
negotiate” generally applies unless a matter is
treated as applying the expedited procedure.

Processing future act notifications is some of the
core work of the FAME Unit, which involves
receiving notifications of proposed activities;
examining them for compliance with the NTA;
assessing the procedural rights available to the
affected native title party; notifying the affected
native title party/ies and assisting the affected
groups respond to notices.

Figures 1 and 2 show the breakdown of future act
notifications by reference to sections of the NTA,
evidencing that most notifications are received
with a right to comment for native title parties.

The majority of Section 24 notices (79.8%) are
Section 24HA notices that relate to the
management or regulation of water. The bulk of
those notices are permits being issued by the
Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority or the
Department of Environment and Science, issuing
permits for marine activities like tourism or for the
collection of scientific data.

Since the last reporting period, there has, since
the 2023/2024 reporting period, been a slight
increase in Section 24 notices and a decrease in
Section 29 notices, which is detailed below. This
has also been coupled with the continued
significant increase in the number of Indigenous
Land Use Agreements (ILUAs), Section 31
Deeds, Ancillary Agreements, and Cultural
Heritage Management Agreements/ Plans for
mining, renewable energies, carbon, and other
large-scale projects impacting the human
resources of the FAME Unit.

Total Future Act Notices Received from 1 July 2024 to

30 June 2025

800

743
600
400
200
93
33
4 5 12 14 8 12
0 2 3. 3 m—
X K& 0y WY R N0\ TR T © T S S R S
[OEIN N O L) q/\X D Ve N ‘ly\% X WX X Ve Q\k SR ARS
% W O T % % Y DR N

North Queensland Land Council

2024- 2025 Annual REPOIt e0e0ee 000000000000 000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000

52




S29 Notices Received 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025

S29RTN
35

Section 24 notices are subjected to scrutiny
before issuing to the affected native title parties,
with advice related to each notice tailored to the
specific circumstances. Through that process,
many notices are detected as having flaws, some
fatal, and the FAME Unit is in constant contact
with the various issuing agencies. Such scrutiny
and advice has also seen an increase in requests
to assist the native title party to respond to the
proposed activity, and in some circumstances has
resulted in requests for negotiation or cultural
heritage assistance.

In the 2024/2025 reporting period, there has been
a slight increase in Section 24 and other notices
(future act and other notifications (including
cultural heritage and Human Rights Act notices)
receiving a total of 932, an increase from 839 in
the last reporting period; and 3583 letters sent, up
from 2939 in the last reporting period.

With the increase between reporting periods over
the last two reporting periods, the increase in
letters sent can also be attributable to many of the
Section 24HA notices impacting large areas of the
Great Barrier Reef Marine Park or statewide
permits for national parks, and therefore needing
to notify multiple groups, being all those who hold
of may hold native title.

S29 EXP
75

As detailed in Figure 3, notices remained constant
throughout much of the year, other than the last
month of the reporting period.

Section 24 notices are subjected to scrutiny
before being issued to the affected native title
parties, with advice related to each notice tailored
to the specific circumstances. Through that
process, many notices are detected as having
flaws, some fatal, and the FAME Unit is in
constant contact with the various issuing
agencies.

NQLC has also seen an increase in requests to
assist the native title parties to respond to the
proposed activity, and in some circumstances has
resulted in requests for negotiations or cultural
heritage assistance. As detailed in Figure 3,
notices remained constant throughout much of
the year, other than the last month of the reporting
period.
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Future Act Notices Received and Sent per Month 1

July 2024 - 30 June 2025
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Also, as PBCs increasingly monitor activity in their
country, several future acts that are not ‘notifiable’
to NQLC under the NTA are therefore not being
brought to our attention for examination and
assistance. NQLC has a ‘gentleman’s agreement’
with many agencies that they provide NQLC with
future act notifications, even where there is not a
legal obligation under the NTA to notify an
NTRB/SP where there is a PBC. However,
feedback we are receiving from PBCs is that there
is a continuing trend that agencies are notifying
NQLC less often post-determination. This then
means the individual PBC would need to contact
NQLC directly for assistance, and where they do
not, it impacts our statistical reporting, as NQLC
may not be receiving all notices.

Where Section 29 future act notifications relate to
exploration under the expedited procedure regime
(where the ‘right to negotiate’ does not apply), the
FAME Unit works closely with the native title
parties to ensure that they are aware of and
monitor compliance with the Native Title
Protection Conditions (NTPCs).

The NTPCs primarily provide for the protection of
cultural heritage and an annual administration fee
payable to the native title party. It is only where an
exploration tenement falls in a national heritage
listing area, designated landscape area, or where
a group identifies a cultural heritage issue with a
proposed area that NQLC usually accepts
instructions to object through the National Native
Title Tribunal (NNTT) to the expedited procedure

applying.

Assisting PBCs in auditing their future act records
and pursuing outstanding fees is also an ongoing
support activity that the FAME Unit provides.
Throughout the reporting period, this service to
PBCs has had another increase in developing
procedures for outstanding fees to also be
escalated within the PBCs, and also where
appropriate, to the Department of Resources.
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Notices issued under the expedited procedure
regime in the reporting period increased from last
year’s reporting period (109, up from 107 in the
previous reporting period). These figures also do
not include exploration and/or mining applications
that have been managed through various
Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAS) without
triggering other sections of the future acts regime
or matters which would otherwise have triggered
the ‘right to negotiate’.

These are not received consistently, as seen in the
Figure, which means during some months, the
FAME Unit staff have needed to process these in
large batches.

S29 RTN & EXP Notices received via Traditional
Owner Groups 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025
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In addition to the ongoing support for pursuing
outstanding fees, the FAME Unit continued with
internal processes to notify PBCs and Applicants
of new grants and renewals to ensure that early

notice is provided to PBCs and Applicants in
administering the NTPCs and other agreements
negotiated. Figure 5 details the number of these
letters sent in the 2024/2025 reporting year.
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Total Number of Monthly Letters Sent vs Tenement
Updates 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025

@® MRAN Tenements MRAN Notices Sent

100
80
60
40 /\
. /
% X X X WX X <5 <5 <5 <5 <5 <5
x < < S < o Q Ry 2
» ) & J ) ) 'S N S N S 'S
S S &L X & 0 R R & RS & §
NS @ & & 2 & o \
Q o S & S <@
P < Q

343 letters were sent to PBCs and Applicants,
including 364 tenements; an increase from 44
letters in the previous reporting period due largely
to an increase in the number of tenements that
were granted in the 2024/2025 reporting year. In
total, there were 52 granted rights to negotiate and
312 expedited procedure notices notified under
Section 29 of the NTA.

Other exploration and mining notifications may
trigger the ‘right to negotiate’ provisions of the
NTA, and the FAME Unit actively represents
several native title groups in such dealings. In the
reporting period, 110 Section 29 notices were
received (up from 107), of which 35 were subject
to the right to negotiate, which are all being
managed through various ancillary agreement
negotiations, which have been significantly
impacting the human resources of the FAME Unit
in addition to those matters being managed under
ILUAs. CHMAs and other Ancillary Agreements.
As noted above, these statistics do not include
other exploration and mining applications being
managed under ILUA negotiations.

In addition to representing the native title groups in
their negotiations, the FAME Unit has continued
progressively working with our client groups to
assist them in implementing the terms of the
future act agreements that have been reached.
The statistical reporting does not adequately
reflect the work involved in progressing these
‘rights to negotiate’ matters, which are often
protracted negotiations and can involve mediation
and Future Act Determination Applications
(FADAS) (see further detail below) with the NNTT,
site visits, and other meetings with the broader
claim group or common law holders to seek
instructions. Large-scale agreements also often
involved NQLC working with PBCs to set up trusts
or operational companies to be able to manage
these agreements.
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The benefits provided in an agreement between a
native title group and a proponent are
predominantly compensation to the native title
party for their consent for a future act proceeding
and the impact that the future act will have on the
group’s native title rights and interests.

Implementation of agreements is critical to
ensuring that the full benefit of the compensation
terms flows to the native title group, and it is an
area of concern for both native title parties and the
NQLC. The NQLC will continue to work with our
clients to ensure implementation and compliance
with the terms of agreements.

Attending to Statutory Obligation to Notify Future
Acts Notification where there is no Registered Claim

When a ‘right to comment’ notice does not affect a
registered or determined claim, the NQLC makes
all reasonable efforts to identify which native title
group/s may have an interest in the area and issue
a copy of the notice to them. Although there are no
procedural rights in these cases other than for
NQLC to make comments in their own right, if a
group has concerns about the future act affecting
an area of significance, NQLC encourages the
group to contact the relevant agency and request
an inspection of the area to protect cultural
heritage. NQLC on assistant can also make
comments on behalf of the group that may have
interests in the area.

In circumstances where a section 29 notice is
issued affecting lands not subject to a claim or
determination, NQLC writes to the proponent
advising them of their obligations under the
Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Act 2003 (Qld)
(ACHA), which requires persons to take all
reasonable and practicable measures to ensure
that the activity does not harm Aboriginal cultural
heritage. Further, we encourage the proponent to
contact the NQLC for assistance in identifying the
relevant Aboriginal Party, being the person
recognised in accordance with tradition or law as
having responsibility for the area or object, as
required by the ACHA.

National Native Title Tribunal (NNTT) Arbitration of
Future Act Determination Application

In most instances, the NTA does not provide for
native title parties to say ‘no’ to future acts
affecting their native title rights and interests, but
in the case of exploration or mining, the ‘right to
negotiate’ might apply. In these cases, the NTA
says the native title party, proponent, and State
must negotiate in good faith to reach an
agreement for the future act to go ahead. If the
parties do not reach an agreement six months
after the notification date, any party can file a
Future Act Determination Application (FADA) for
an arbitrated decision by the NNTT.

This reporting period, there was one (1) FADA
filed, which was resolved with the proponent being
found not to have acted in good faith (in the
2025/2026 reporting period), so this matter is now
back in the right to negotiate.

This reporting period, NQLC has had two (2)
matters in active mediation, and some maitters
may be lodged, which will be addressed in the
next reporting period.

There is also the provision to apply to the NNTT to
object to a future act being treated under the
expedited procedure regime. NQLC filed three
(3)objection applications in the 2024/2025 one of
which was withdrawn after an exploration
agreement was negotiated, and another as the
PBC erred in the location of significant sites that
were later identified as being outside of the
exploration tenement footprint. The third is still
progressing through negotiations for an
exploration agreement.
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Implementation of Indigenous Land Use Agreements
(ILUASs) — Mining and Exploration and large-scale

projects

In relation to the ILUAs and other agreements
related to mining and exploration, as noted above,
a prevailing issue for native title groups is the
successful and ongoing implementation of the
agreements to ensure that all negotiated terms are
implemented to their fullest extent.

In the course of EDST’s ongoing work with native
title groups to implement their agreements, a
number of issues were identified as affecting most
groups.

These included:
« Administrative tools and resources required;
e proponent compliance issues in agreement
implementation relating to outstanding
compensation payments;

« better engagement with government agencies
and industry to maximise value;

« the benefits being implemented;

» the need for expansion of the PBCs to include
trust structures and other operational arms to
minimise risk;

« directing the benefits to meeting the needs
and aspirations of the native title group for
charitable purposes; and

« how/what were other groups are doing to get
the best out of their agreements.

The FAME Unit, in conjunction with the PBC
Support Unit has been working directly with
several PBCs to address compliance issues
related to non-payment of compensation
payments and other environmental and trespass
breaches.

ILUA Implementation project

The ILUA Implementation Project (reported on in
our last nine annual reports) is still progressing as
the FAME Unit works with several PBCs in the
implementation, formal review, and some
renegotiation of ILUAs. The progression of this
Project has continued to be impacted by the large
number of Section 29 Notices in the RTN and
other large ILUA agreements and Cultural Heritage
Management Agreements/Plans being negotiated
in all reporting periods, which have diverted our
staffing resources to urgent negotiations to protect
native title rights and interests. There has still been
considerable work with this Project, and it is
continuing to be prioritised with the individual PBC
taking into account various factors, including:

« the need for immediate renegotiation or review
required under the terms of the ILUAs
themselves;

» implementation where there are outstanding
action items or obligations of the PBCs that
are linked to other key strategic projects;

« the ranging capacities of PBCs in active
implementation; and

e The need for broader planning, including
strategic planning and land use planning of the
PBCs.

Other matters arising through the implementation
of the Project have been the perpetual nature of
some of the ILUA, where there is a reluctance on
behalf of some agencies to commit to a review
where it is not tied to a specific project or agenda.
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Other negotiated agreements

In the 2024/2025 reporting period, the FAME Unit
has seen a further increase in non-mining
negotiations, including negotiations for the
development of Cultural Heritage Management
Agreements or Plans, ILUAs, and other
agreements for large infrastructure projects, as
noted above.

There were also ILUAs for third-party proponents,
including for carbon and for PBCs themselves,
that will continue to be negotiated into the
2025/2026 reporting year, which may result in
higher numbers of reported agreements in future
years. In the 2024/2025 reporting period, there
were 8 ILUAs registered, 11 Section 31 Deeds, 8
Ancillary Agreements, and a further 4 Cultural
Heritage Management Agreements represented in
Figure 6.

Settled Agreements for July 2024 to June 2025

ANCIL AGMT

SETTLED
ANCIL AGMT

S.31

SIGNED
ILUA

REG. ILUA

CHMA

OTHER

Photo Taken by:
Pascale Taplin |
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Prescribed Bodies Corporate Support Unit

The PBC Support Unit (PBCSU) provides
establishment and ongoing capacity development
support services to PBCs to assist them in fulfilling
their rights and responsibilities to their members
and common law holders and meet their
legislative requirements. The PBCSU is also
responsible for the administration of the auspiced
PBC Support Funding available through the
National Indigenous Australians Agency (NIAA)
and also auspices a PBC Capacity Development
Grant for a PBC. During the reporting period, there
were no further determinations, and there are 32
PBCs in the NQLC region. A further PBC however
has come on Board following a recent
determination since the end of the reporting
period.

The PBC Basic Support Funding is an annual
grant program that is only available to Registered
Native Title Bodies Corporate (RNTBCs — more
commonly referred to as PBCSs).

The purpose of the PBC Basic Support Funding is
limited to basic administration and compliance
activities. Basic administration and compliance
activities include those activities that a corporation
is legally required to do, such as maintain a
Document Access Address, hold an AGM, and
obtain an auditor.

PBC Basic Support Funding may also include
office rent expenses, utilities, office furniture, and
equipment;
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insurances; reasonable costs incurred for the
conduct of director/general/common law holder
meetings; and administration officer wages
(generally part-time).

The NQLC will assist PBCs in making their
application if the PBC’s Board requests
assistance from the PBCSU. All applications for
PBC Support Funding in the NQLC region must be
in the prescribed form and submitted to the NQLC
PBC Support Unit for assessment. The PBCSU
works closely with PBCs to meet their critical
funding requirements as best we can with the
limited funding available. This process remained
the same in the 2024/2025 period after the change
in the last reporting period to NQLC overseeing
approvals and not NIAA. Funds are released to the
PBC subject to the terms of the NQLC-PBC
Support Funding Process Agreement, which
includes six monthly acquittal requirements.

If new PBCs are determined partway through a
relevant financial year, funding is always a
daunting prospect; however, it has always been a
practice of NQLC, currently administering the
program, to accept and consider PBC Support
Funding applications. There were no newly
determined PBCs in the reporting period, as noted
above; however, we are preparing for the
determination of hopefully three (3) new PBCs in
the next reporting period, one of which has already
occurred since the end of the reporting period.
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Ultimately, at year's end, during the 2024/2025
financial year, 24 PBCs applied and were approved
for PBC Support Funding.

PBCSU is also assisting PBCs to apply for
Capacity Building grant funding to assist with
building either long-term economic development
or capacity growth. This is done either directly with
PBCSU staff or through the engagement of a grant
fund writer, depending on the size and complexity
of the grant being sought.

Capacity Development Activities

The PBCSU also provides capacity development
services to support PBCs to develop and/or
consolidate their corporate and governance skills,
knowledge, and systems, to manage the native
title rights and interests of their native title holders,
and achieve their cultural and corporate
obligations and aspirations.

Where requested, the PBCSU will design and
deliver tailored services directly to individual PBCs
based on their specific needs and aspirations.
Training and information workshops are also
provided. Forums are also offered, and all PBCs in
the NQLC region are invited to attend. In the
2024/2025 reporting period, however, there were
no forums as one scheduled for February 2025
had to be rescheduled to August 2026 after
significant flooding in Townsville.

The PBCSU’s four platforms of support and
services are:

1. Administration support: to support PBCs to
develop systems and practices required to
function as a small, efficient business. At the
request of a PBC Board, the PBCSU will work
closely with the nominated PBC representative
to assist the PBC in establishing an office;
review lease contracts; develop administrative
tools, procedures, and systems; and provide
other general administration support that may
be required.

2. Economic Development: The PBCSU
continues to assist three PBCs who have
collectively decided to pool resources, work
together, and develop a for-profit partnership
corporation to pursue large commercial
contracts through Supply Nation. PBCSU is
working closely with the three PBCs and
consultants to have the partnership corporation
established.

The PBCSU is also working with additional
PBCs since the last reporting period to
establish operational arms and trusts. PBCs
entering  commercial agreements  and
establishing programmed (including ranger
programs) are looking for ways to minimise risk
and grow corporate structures that can employ
and train their own people. PBCSU is assisting
PBCs to develop those corporate structures
and engage suitable advisors and consultants
who can provide high-level technical advice to
PBCs regarding complex corporate issues.

PBCSU continues to work with the Building the
Indigenous Economy in North Queensland
(BIENQ) Subcommittee of the Board to identify
the economic and business opportunities in the
NQLC region and provide an organisational
capability analysis required for a corporate
structure to deliver the services to support
PBCs to engage in economic and business
ventures.

3. Governance Support: to establish, embed,
and maintain the essential governance tools
and strategies that are necessary for managing
a PBC.

The need for PBCs to have policies and
procedures to deal with operational and
governance matters has long been recognised.
The EDST has responded by developing PBC-
specific policies and procedures over the
years. In the 2024/2025 period, the PBCSU
escalated the development of the policies and
procedures into a comprehensive suite that
can be modified to meet the needs of a PBC.
Delivery of the comprehensive suite of
governance instruments continued throughout
2024/2025 and will continue into the next
reporting period.
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4, Sustainable financial positioning: support

for PBCs to engage in enterprise development
and economic empowerment to realise social,
cultural, and economic benefits from native
title and other opportunities.

PBCSU worked with several PBCs to develop
tailored strategic, business, and land use
plans. These plans will provide PBCs with a
focused and systematic approach to
developing their assets. Additionally, such
plans are critical to accessing future grant
funding opportunities. In  short, these
governance instruments form the foundation
for pursuing economic and enterprise
opportunities.

It should be noted that there are time-lags in
the process of realising enterprises (identifying
suitable opportunities, securing the requisite

5. Information/Training forums: all PBCs in

NQLC'’s region are invited to attend PBCSU'’s
regional forums, usually as a ‘topic-specific
forum’ for immediate learning, but also
providing the opportunity for networking.
PBCSU forums were not held in the current
reporting period, as noted above, because of
severe weather in Townsville that caused them
to be postponed. Feedback since the
introduction of webinars, as noted in the
2023/2024 reporting period, is that forums are
an opportunity to network, and PBCSU will
continue to hold annual PBC forums.

In response to PBC’s request, the PBCSU is
currently working on new education and
training programs for directors, members, and
common law holders in relation to what rights
and obligations people have, which will
continue to be delivered in the 2025/2026
period.

funding, developing the business, operating
the business), and the NQLC is not necessarily
involved throughout all the stages sufficiently
toreport on it.

Performance According to Functions & Outputs

The Agreements Experience

Section 24 Future Act Notices (FANS) received 932
Response to Future Acts 3583
Section 29 Notices received 110
Notifications or grant/renewals, etc. received 569
Concluded and Registered 8
Agreements:
In development Numerous
Concluded and Registered Numerous
Indigenous Land Use In Development 0
Agreements
(ILUA): Resolved Numerous
Pending Numerous
Disputes relating to ILUAS, rights of access and other matters Numerous

Note 1
[The NQLC responds to FANSs received by:
a)sending out copies of the notices to the persons appointed by each claim group or PBC for the receipt of FANS;
b)providing strategic advice to groups about the impact of Future Acts;
c)where instructed, formulating submissions on behalf of claimants or PBCs to Future Acts;
d)where a Future Act consists of a notification pursuant to the Mineral Resources Act 1989, that an Exploration Permit is intended for issue with the Native Title Protection|
Conditions attached, advising claimants and PBCs about the effect of those Native Title Protection Conditions and post issue of the permit assisting groups to
limplement
the Native Title Protection Conditions;
e)where appropriate, represent native title groups or PBCs in their negotiations and drafting of future act agreements; and
the increase in the number of PBCs receiving the notices on behalf of the native title party rather than the individual applicants has seen a reduction in the required
number of responses to FANSs in the last four reporting periods.
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Corporate Services Team

Discussion and Analysis of the NQLC’s Financial
Performance against Budget

As at the end of the financial year, some external
legal and anthropological contracts, and specific
grant commitments remained outstanding;
however, finalisation of these has been committed
from the 2024-2025 grant funds

The NQLC has achieved an ‘unqualified audit
opinion’ from our auditors, Grant Thornton Audit
Pty Ltd.

Discussion of any significant changes from the prior

Year or from Budget

The NQLC was principally funded by NIAA during
2024-2025.

The Corporation has received recognition as the
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander
body (representative body) for the North
Queensland area for three years from 01 July 2023
to 30 June 2026.

In addition to its recognition period above, the
Corporation was approved for core operational and
PBC Support funding for the three years from 01
July 2023 to 30 June 2026.

The Corporation’s Head Agreement and Project
Schedule reflect the approved three-year funding
allocation.

The NQLC obtained approval from NIAA to expend
the previous year's surplus funds.

The NQLC, on behalf of traditional owner groups in
the NQLC’s region, engaged with various external
proponents in negotiating indigenous land use
agreements. These negotiations contributed to
activity-generated income.

Developments since 30 June 2025 that have affected
or may significantly affect NQLC’s Future Operations

Since the end of the 2024-2025 financial year, no
developments have occurred that may significantly
affect the NQLC'’s future operations.
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Budgets/Actual by Main Heads of Expenditure & Revenue

NTRB FUNCTIONS Actual Budget Actual VARIATION
(Funds utilised under Native Title 2023-24 2024-25 2024-25  (actual minus
Funding Agreement) $'000 $’000 $’000 budget)
Expenditure
Capital 138,386 172,320 90,842 -81,478
Activities 8,929,654 15,566,432 9,751,739 -5,814,693
Corporate 2,582,777 3,467,500 3,330,761 -136,739
Total 11,650,817 19,206,252 13,173,342 -6,032,910
Income
NIAA Funding 12,086,020 13,500,166 | 13,500,166 0
Previous Year Unexpended Funds 2,973,571 5,676,086 4,981,811 -694,275
Activity Generated Income
Administration Fees 18,547 0 7,755 7,755
Bank Interest 83,582 30,000 80,099 50,099
Meeting Contributions 2,122 0 0 0
Project Proponent Income 218,982 0 83,910 83,910
Provision of Services 6,073 0 21,033 21,033
Sale of Assets 23,682 0 27,641 27,641
Other Income 2,047 0 0 0
Total 15,414,626 19,206,252 18,702,415 -503,837
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Social Media Impact

94.1kviews

ave.

17 engagment
rate

Facebook Analytics LinkedIn Analytics
July 2024 - June 2025 July 2024 - June 2025
Jul 2024 - Sep 2024 | 3,534 Jul 2024 - Sep 2024 973
Oct 2024 - Dec 2024 | 34,081 Oct 2024 - Dec 2024| 2,554
Views Jan 2025 - Mar 2025 | 19,304 Impressions Jan 2025 - Mar 2025| 2,032
Apr2025-Jun 2025 | 26,546 Apr2025-Jun 2025| 5,154
Total 82,465 Total 10,713
Jul 2024 -Sep 2024 | 2,474 Jul 2024 - Sep 2024 111
Oct 2024 - Dec 2024 | 6,849 Oct 2024 - Dec 2024| 437
Reach Jan 2025 - Mar 2025 | 4,913 Clicks Jan 2025 - Mar 2025 203
Apr2025-Jun 2025 | 6,164 Apr 2025 - Jun 2025 841
Total 19,806 Total 1,592
Jul 2024 - Sep 2024 350 Jul 2024 - Sep 2024 | 13.7
Oct 2024 - Dec 2024 653 Oct 2024 - Dec 2024 21.2
Interactions| Jan 2025 - Mar 2025 523 Engagement Jan 2025 - Mar2025| 13.6
Apr 2025 - Jun 2025 1,316 R Apr2025-Jun2025| 19.6
Total 2,842 Average 17.025
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As part of cur Movember efforts, NQLC is proud to have linked up with community
» Congratulations to Jirrbal people on their health initiatives to promote awareness and support for Men's Haalth. This year, we
fourth determination of native title! g teamed up with Girruny Yealamucka to amplify the message.
Qur CEQ, Leon, and Media Officer, Reilly, were honored to attend the Yarrabah
Q... See more Men's Health Forum, organized by Darmen Miller and Ross Maloney from Gurniny
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- Centre, and Indigenous Energy Australia while being part of such a meaningful

community gathering.
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opportunity to stand together in promoting men's health awarenass,
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and wellbeing of our men.
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Corporate
Gov

NQLC’s corporate govérnance is built on transparency, accountability,
and the principle of separation of powers between the Board of
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer. The Board provides strategic
direction, sets policies, and ensures compliance, while the CEO
manages day-to-day operations and implements Board decisions.
Directors are elected through a Ward system for two-year terms,
ensuring broad representation of Traditional Owner groups across
North Queensland. Supporting strong leadership, sub-committees
such as the Executive Committee and Core Document Review
Committee play key roles in decision-making, policy review, and
maintaining good governance practices.
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e
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Corporate Governance Framework

Principles of Governance

Good governance at the North Queensland Land
Council begins with clear purpose, roles, and
responsibilities. This clear statement is enshrined
in our Rule Book, which sets out the guiding
relationship between our Board of Directors and
our Chief Executive Officer.

In 2001, NQLC formally adopted the separation of
powers principle. This principle ensures that
leadership and management work hand in hand,
each with defined responsibilities, but always
united by a shared vision for strong, transparent,
good governance.

The Board of Directors stands as the guiding voice
of the organisation and is responsible for:

» Setting policies and determining the priorities
of the Corporation

» Approving budgets and financial plans

» Leading strategic and statutory planning

o Overseeing compliance  with  funding
conditions and legislative obligations

e Appointing auditors in accordance with the
Rules

» Appointing the Chief Executive Officer

o Setting, running, and recording all Annual
General Meetings, General Meetings, and
Ward Meetings

» Appointing a Public Officer or Secretary as
required under the CATSI Act

e Representing the Corporation at political
forums, seminars, and meetings relevant to its
objectives

» Planning for the delivery of the Corporation’s
goals and objectives

The Chief Executive Officer, appointed by the
Board, is responsible for implementing the policies
and plans set by the Board and for managing the
day-to-day affairs of the North Queensland Land
Council Aboriginal Corporation.

Together, the Board and CEO form the two
essential pillars of NQLC'’s corporate governance.

Their partnership is grounded in accountability and
clear boundaries with the goal to continue to
strengthen the organisation’s capacity to deliver
effective native title services across the North
Queensland footprint.

Role of the CEO

The Chief Executive Officer looks over the
operations of NQLC. They are the bridge between
strategic direction and daily action. Guided by the
policies set by the Board, the CEO ensures that
NQLC’s vision is brought to life through sound
management, cultural awareness, and operational
excellence.

The CEOQ is responsible for:

« Overseeing the day-to-day management and
administration of NQLC in accordance with the
Policy and Procedure Manuals

» Implementing decisions made by the Board

« Managing the organisation’s financial
resources within NIAA guidelines and approved
budgets

o Leading and supporting
appointments, performance
grievance procedures

« Providing the Board with informed advice and
guidance to assist in decision-making

o lIdentifying  funding opportunities and
partnerships across Government and non-
government sectors

» Ensuring that native title groups within NQLC’s
region are informed and engaged with the
organisation’s functions and framework

o Promoting collaboration with other Indigenous
organisations across the region

o Representing and promoting NQLC’s role at
local, regional, and national levels

» Developing advocacy positions
submissions on behalf of the organisation

staff
reviews,

through
and

and

All formal communication between the Board and
staff is conducted through the CEO. However, this
does not restrict staff from speaking directly with
Board members about personal or cultural matters
when appropriate.
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69

NQLC’s governance framework continues to be
guided by its Separation of Powers principles
described in the Principles of Governance section
found on page 69 of this report, ensuring that the
organisation’s leadership remains both
accountable and effective.

The NQLC Board of Directors operates under the
Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander) Act 2006 (CATSI Act). Board members
are elected through a Ward system designed to
reflect the vast and diverse geographic area
covered by NQLC.

Each Director is elected for a two-year term,
ensuring continuous and representative
leadership that speaks for the many Traditional
Owner groups across North Queensland.

Leadership Committees

The principle of separation of powers is to ensure
that leadership and management work hand in
hand, each with defined roles and responsibilities.
The organisation is guided by a Board of Directors,
operating in line with the Corporations (Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 (CATSI Act).

Board members are elected through a Ward
system, designed to ensure fair and equitable
representation across the diverse geographic area
that NQLC serves. Each elected member holds
office for a two-year term, beginning at the close of
one Annual General Meeting (AGM) and
continuing until the second subsequent AGM. The
Board’s responsibilities are:

» they ensure that native title groups within
NQLC'’s region understand the organisation’s
functions and framework

o integrate NQLC’s operations with other
Indigenous organisations

» promote the Council’s role at local, regional,
and national levels

« and develop advocacy positions and
submissions on behalf of NQLC.

Communication between the Board and the
administration is directed through the CEO,
maintaining a clear line of governance, though
staff are always able to approach Board members
directly on private or cultural matters.

NQLCNTRB *
REGION

Richmond

-
£.0.0
Board of

Directors

X

Members

Chief Executive Officer

Coporate
Services
Team

EDST Team

Anthropology
Unit

FAME Unit

Legal Unit PBSU Unit
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The Board also has the authority to establish sub- 4. The Executive Committee has the power to

committees to focus on specific priorities. During apply the Common Seal to agreements or

this reporting period, two notable sub-committees other documents requiring the same where the
played a key role in NQLC’s operations. The CEO Executive Committee has exercised its powers

Recruitment Sub-committee, formed in the 2021 under rule 3(a).

;022 ggggd,bsuccess.ﬂ:'lly concIuSetd ':[[S wo(;l:]'lr; 5. A quorum for a meeting of the Executive

ay : _y appoin mg, a Subslallls 1 Committee shall be four (4) persons.

Executive Officer. Meanwhile, the Core Document

Review Sub-committee, established in 2022- 6. All actions of the Executive Committee shall be

2023, continues its work reviewing and updating reported to the next Board meeting, and all

NQLC'’s key documents, including the Rule Book, minutes of the Executive Committee meetings

Strategic Plan, and Policy Manual, ensuring the shall be supplied to the next Board meeting.

organisation remains robust, transparent, and The Board may choose to ratify any actions of

aligned with its governance obligations. the Executive Committee.
. 7. (a) Meetings of the Executive Committee may

Executive & Other Sub be called by:

Committees (i) the Chairperson;

(i) two (2) members of the Executive

1. There shall be a sub-committee known as the Committee.

Executive Committee. (b) Notice of an Executive Committee meeting

2. The Executive Committee shall be composed shall be a reasonable amount of time
of those persons who from time to time hold considering the urgency of the matter, but in
the position of: any event, no less than 24 hours.

o Chairperson (c) Notice may be given by fax, emalil,
o Deputy Chairperson telephone, mail, or any method that allows the
o Treasurer recipient to receive the notice.
o Correspondence Secretar ) )
P y . 8. The Executive Committee shall have such
« and such other person or persons (if any) N
. . other powers and responsibilities as the Board
as the Board may from time to time i . .
. may from time to time determine.
determine.

3. The Executive Committee has the power to 98- The Board may at any time appoint other sub-
exercise the powers of the Board in the committees from its members and shall
following circumstances: determine the responsibilities and powers of

(a) Where an urgent decision is required on a the sub-committee.
matter gr.]d thgre is either: . 10. Unless otherwise decided by the Board, a sub-
(i) insufficient time to call a Board meeting committee, other than the Executive
for the purpose; or Committee, shall:
(ii) ’fhe calllng ofa Board meeting would (a) Have a quorum of three (3) at its meetings,
involved INCUITING eXpenses tothe unless the sub-committee resolves that a
A c?o.rporatlon that,' in the reasonable larger number shall be the quorum:
opinion of the Chairperson, are (b) Appoint one (1) of its members to be
unwarranted. . . . .
responsible for calling meetings and inform the
(b) In partiCUIar, but without I|m|t|ng the CEO ofthe responsib|e person.
generality of sub-rule (a), the Executive 11. Meetings of the Executive Committee or any

Committee has the power to bind the
Corporation to fund or other
agreements deemed necessary for the
ongoing business of the Corporation.

sub-committee may be held at two or more
venues using any technology that allows
members to participate, discuss, and reach
collective decisions (for example, via
telephone or video conference).
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Corporate Planning &
Reporting

The Board of Directors of the NQLC meets regularly
to ensure strong oversight and responsive
governance. Each year, the Board holds a minimum
of four meetings, plus an additional planning
meeting. This number may increase if extraordinary
events or circumstances arise that require the
Board’s attention and decision-making.

To make informed decisions, the Board receives
comprehensive reports from key officers, including:
« the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ)
o the Principal Legal Officer (PLO), including
updates on native title claims
o the Chief Financial Officer (CFQO), providing
financial statements
« the Manager of the Engagement and
Development Support Team, covering Future
Acts, Mining and Exploration, and PBC Support
Units

In line with NIAA requirements, the NQLC prepares
an annual Operational Plan for approval, making
adjustments throughout the financial year as
necessary. Additionally, the organisation reports on
its operational and financial performance twice
yearly, ensuring transparency and accountability in
all aspects of its work.

Financial & Risk

Management

The NQLC, in line with the National Indigenous
Australians Agency (NIAA) Terms and Conditions
for Native Title Agreements commencing on or after
1 July 2013, employs an in-house Certified
Practising Accountant. In addition, external auditors
undertake the annual audit of the organisation,
ensuring independent oversight and accountability.

When it comes to operational risk management, the
NQLC has long maintained a proactive approach,
engaging in a range of internal processes to
safeguard its work and stakeholders. These
processes include:

» Regular planning meetings;

» Internal strategic claim team meetings;

71

« Maintaining professional relationships between
the PLO, other lawyers, and the Federal Court
Registrars, including discussions about
prioritisation needs where appropriate; and

« Annual overview and forward strategic planning
meetings.

To safeguard the organisation’s assets, the NQLC
has a Fraud Prevention Policy in place. This policy
is designed to protect public funds and other
assets, preserve the integrity, security, and
reputation of the NQLC and its employees, and
ensure the continued delivery of high-quality
services to the community. The policy reinforces
the organisation’s commitment to protecting its
revenue, expenditure, assets, and property from
any attempts to gain financial or other benefits
through deceit.

Ethical conduct is central to NQLC operations, with
Board members and staff required to declare
conflicts of interest as they arise. Financial
management is regularly reviewed, with all
transactions securely recorded and reconciled to
ensure accuracy and transparency.

Senior Management
Remuneration

The Board of Directors is responsible for
determining the salary of the Chief Executive
Officer, subject to adequate funding from the
National Indigenous Australians Agency (NIAA).
Remuneration for senior management is guided by
the salary scales outlined in the NQLC Enterprise

Agreement 2019-2021. Current rates reflect
previously negotiated Enterprise Agreement
conditions, informed by market and industry

analysis to ensure competitiveness and fairness.

In line with good governance, the NQLC consults
with NIAA on all senior management appointments
and remuneration, in accordance with the Terms
and Conditions of the Program Funding Agreement.
This process ensures transparency, accountability,
and alignment with funding requirements while
supporting the organisation’s leadership to deliver
on its strategic and operational goals.

North Queensland Land Council
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Meetings Attended by the NQLC Board of Directors
during the 2024-2025 Reporting Period

Board Meetings

1 Board Meeting 268 27/07/2024 8 Cairns & TEAMS

2 Board Meeting 23/09/2024 7 Cairns & TEAMS

3 Board Meeting 16/12/24 8 Cairns & TEAMS

4 Board Meeting 23624/01/2025 10 Cairns & TEAMS

5 Board Meeting 10 & 11 April 2025 9 Townsville &§ TEAMS
1 Executive Meeting 26/06/2025 4 Cairns

2 Executive Meeting 22 & 23/06/2024 4 Cairns

Workshops

1 Workshop 28-30 May 2025 11 Cairns

Rules, Policies &
Procedures

North Queensland Land Council, strong
governance begins with clarity of roles and
responsibilities. The separation of powers is

enshrined in the NQLC Rule Book, clearly defining
the distinct roles of the Board and the Complementing these policies, the NQLC adheres

Administration (see Section 6.1). to the procedures in the Administrative Procedures
Manual, ensuring day-to-day operations align with
governance standards. These procedures cover:
» Complaints and grievances
» Use of telecommunications and social media
» Workplace health and safety
« Statutory obligations
» Financial responsibilities, including purchasing,
procurement, and consultant appointments
o Meeting processes, including travel
arrangements and payment of travel allowances

Internal review processes
Workplace harassment
Confidentiality

Privacy

To support ethical and professional decision-
making, the Board has voluntarily adopted a Code
of Conduct governing its meetings and processes,
while legal staff adhere strictly to the ethics of the
legal profession in Queensland.

The NQLC also follows the policies set out in its
Policy Manual, which guide key areas, including:

« Separation of powers

« Code of conduct

o Conflict of interest

« Employment and financial decision-making

« Receiving gifts, benefits, and hospitality

Through these robust policies and procedures, the
NQLC ensures that its governance framework is
both transparent and accountable, supporting the
organisation to act in the best interests of its
members and communities.
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The'NQLC remains committed to strong dversTght and: accountability,
with no new'developments in external scrutiny.‘Its finances continue to*
be audited in line with Australian accounting standards; and the 2024-=:!
2025 audit received an. unqualified  result:: The “organisation also
remains‘registered with the*ACNC and regulated by ORIC. Additionally,
the "NOUS: Group completed a performance review for NQLC,
confirming compliance and effectiveness across its operations. -
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Oversight & Accountability

Significant Developments

There have been no developments in external
scrutiny from previous years. The NQLC continues
to have its finances audited in accordance with the
requirements of the Terms and Conditions of the
Native Title Agreement, and in accordance with
Australian accounting standards.

NQLC is registered as a charity with the Australian
Charities and  Not-for-profits ~ Commission;
however, our corporate regulator remains the
Office of the Registrar of Indigenous Corporations
(ORIC).

Judicial & Administrative Review

None of the actions or decisions of the NQLC have
been subject to judicial review or review by
administrative tribunals.

Audit of Financial Statements

The audit of the NQLC'’s finances was unqualified.
See section 11 for our Annual Financial Report.

Finding & Responses

The NQLC has received its finalised Performance
Review Report conducted by the NOUS Group in
the 2022-2023 financial year. The National
Indigenous Australians Agency (NIAA) engaged
the NOUS Group to engage in a second round of
performance reviews of native title representative
bodies and service providers.

Photo Taken by:
Reilly Wilson-Neil

The purpose of the NTRB/SP reviews is to assess
individual and comparative organisational
performance against Terms of Reference
established by NIAA with the aim of measuring the
efficiency and effectiveness of NTRBs/ SPs.

North Queensland Land Council
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Consultancy Services

Competitive Tendering & Contracting Practices

In addition to the services provided by NQLC
professional staff, external consultants are
engaged to provide further expert services and
advice on a range of matters relating to NQLC’s
functions as an NTRB. These include legal
opinion, anthropological research, and other
corporate matters.

The engagement of these consultants is
undertaken within the procurement guidelines as
set out in NIAA’'s Head Agreement and Project
Schedule.

Where appropriate, the NQLC encourages a
competitive process by advertising for expressions
of interest for the carrying out of new
anthropological research. Often, in relation to
anthropological and other research consultants, it
is necessary to retain the same consultant who
has previously worked with the group in question
or who has provided previous reports. In the
interests of consistency, these persons are in the
best position to provide further services.

Number of Consultancy Services Contracts and Total
Expenditure on Consultancy Services

External consultants providing anthropological
services to the NQLC are provided with formal
written contracts detailing terms and conditions of
services, including reporting time frames, number
of contract days, fee scales, and fixed figure
contracts.

Contracts for legal consultants tend to be written
for two purposes. Firstly, for the provision of
specific advice on specific issues, such as
obtaining the opinion of Counsel on legal issues.
Usually, a fixed fee for such contracts can be
negotiated, but on occasions the fee is based on
an hourly rate.

No. of
Contracts
2024-2025

Total

Contract T i
ontract Type Expenditure

Corporate and

292,092
General $ ’

Anthropological $342,317

Secondly, contracts for legal consultants to act
(generally on behalf of a claim group or in respect
of an ongoing matter) tend to be written based on
payments in accordance with the relevant court
scale of costs, or an agreed scale of costs, with the
total value not to exceed an agreed cap. Contracts
for corporate/general services include areas
involving human resources, industrial relations,
audit, and accounting.

During the reporting period, the NQLC’s
expenditure from NIAA funds for these contract
categories is listed in Figure 8.

Total Number of
og Contracts 2024-2025

Corporate & General

Anthropological

Legal

$292,092

Total Expenditure

Legal $2,203,523

$2,837,932

$342,317

Corporate & General
Anthropological

Legal 45903 523
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Management |
of Human
Resources

NQLC employed 43 staff, with 32.6% identifying as Indigenousgan
85% retention rate. Staff undertook extensive profess
development across governance, legal, cultural, and technical®
including First Aid, Indigenous governance, and industry confefence
NQLC maintains strong workplace health and safety pr
including annual audits and compliance with WorkCover Queens
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Workforce Development &

Wellbeing

Workforce Planning, Staff Turnover and Retention

As at 30 June 2025, NQLC had 43 staff, of which
32.6% were Indigenous.

The Organisational Structure on page 80 provides
a detailed list of all positions.

During this reporting period, there was a turnover
of ten staff, including three who were within their
probationary periods.

32.6%

Indigenous Staff

89%

Retention Rate

&

Training & Development Undertaken & its Impact

Throughout the year, staff have attended various
training seminars, workshops, forums,
conferences, and webinars. Professional staff
attended training seminars and conferences in
their field of expertise. These included various
Legalwise seminars, Native Title Forums and
Workshops, Native Title Intensive Webinars,
AIATSIS Conference, Australian Anthropological
Conference, Centre for Native Title Anthropology
Forums and Workshops, Australasian Institute of
Mining and Metallurgy Critical Minerals
Conference, Taxation, Payroll and FBT training,
and HR conferences and workshops.

Other training throughout the year included First
Aid training, Mental Health First Aid, CPR
renewals, indigenous governance and PBC
governance forums, Drone Remote Pilots Licence
upgrade, organisational workshops, and internal
departmental team workshops.

Other meetings attended by staff included cultural
heritage forums, critical minerals forums, native
title representative body online forums, and
National Native Title Council meetings.

Impact & Features of Enterprise Agreement

The nominal date of expiry for the 2019-2021
Enterprise Agreement was 01 July 2021.
Negotiations for a new Enterprise Agreement were
delayed during the year. Negotiations are due to be
finalised in the new financial year.

Workplace Health & Safety Performance

The organisation upholds its commitment to
WHES obligations within the workplace.

The NQLC maintains appropriate Workers’
Compensation Insurance  with  WorkCover
Queensland. The NQLC undertakes an annual
audit of its first aid kits.

North Queensland Land Council
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Organisation Chart

Chief Executive
Officer

Executive Assistant

Media Officer

CORPORATE
SERVICES TEAM

Chief Financial
Officer/
HR Manager

—

Principal Legal Officer

ANTHROPOLOGY
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Indemnities & Insurance

The NQLC holds Professional Indemnity
Insurance cover up to ten million dollars, at a
premium of $41,264 per annum. This insurance
covers Directors and Officers. During this period,
there have been no claims made under this policy.

Comparison on Staffing Numbers for the 2024/25 &
2023/24 Reporting Period

No. of Staff 2024-25 No. of Staff 2023-24

Position
(As at30June 2025) (Asat 30 June 2024)

Chief Executive Officer 1 1
Principal Legal Officer 1 1
Chief Financial Officer 1 1
Lawyers 11 11
Paralegal 1 0
Anthropologists 4 4
First Nations Engagement
. 2 2
Officers
Admlnlstrgtlon & Other 50 17
Officers
Total Number of Staff 43 37

North Queensland Land Council
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Federal Court

Registered Native Title

Date Claim Name
Number Body Corporate
06/09/24 QUD983/2015 Jirrbal People #4 Wabubadda Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
18/08/2023 QUD178/2018 Wakaman People #5 Wakaman Kung Kung Aboriginal Corporation
RNTBC
18/08/2023 QUD728/2017 Wakaman People #4 | Vakaman Kung Kung Aboriginal Corporation
RNTBC
18/08/2023 QUDA76/2015 Wakaman People #3 | Vakaman Kung Kung Aboriginal Corporation
RNTBC
18/08/2021 QUD882/2015 Warrgamay People Warrgamay Traditional Owners Aboriginal
Corporation
25/02/2020 QUD12/2019 Yuwibara People Yuwi Aboriginal Corporation
04/04/2019 QUD308/2014 Gulngay People Gulngay Kinjufile Aboriginal Corporation
01/08/2018 QUD741/2015 Girramay People #2 Girramay People Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
20/04/2018 QUD148/2015 Nywaigi Psople Warga Badda Nywaigi Aboriginal Corporation
RNTBC
12/12/2017 QUD1076/2015 Bar Barrum #9 Mbabaram Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
12/12/2017 QUDB607/2016 Bar Barrum #10 (Rivers) Mbabaram Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
13/12/2016 QUD80/2005 Gudjala People (Part B) Ngrragoonda Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
13/12/2016 QUD147/2006 Gudjala People #2 (Part B) | Ngrragoonda Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
05/12/2016 QUDB6031/2001 Bar Barrum People #5 Mbabaram Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
Widi P le Of The N . - . .
29/06/2016 QUD492/2013 el FEEB O DN Gangali Narra Widi Aboriginal Corporation
Estate #2
Barada Barna People And
D 2 o . . . .
29/06/2016 %UU D348902/ /20001%/ Widi People Of The Nebo Gangali Narra Widi Aboriginal Corporation
Estate #2 Shared-Country
10/06/2016 QUD6015/2001 Bar Barrum People #2 Mbabaram Aboriginal Corporation
10/06/2016 QUD6017/2001 Bar Barrum People #3 Mbabaram Aboriginal Corporation
10/06/2016 QUD6030/2001 Bar Barrum People #4 Mbabaram Aboriginal Corporation
10/06/2016 QUDB6032/2001 Bar Barrum People #6 Mbabaram Aboriginal Corporation
22/06/2015 QUD554/2010 Juru People (Part B) Kyburra Munda Yalga Aboriginal Corporation
11/07/2014 QUDb554/2010 Juru People (Part A) Kyburra Munda Yalga Aboriginal Corporation
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Federal Court

Registered Native Title

Date Claim Name
Number Body Corporate
18/03/2014 QUD80/2005 Gudjala People Ngrragoonda Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
18/03/2014 QUD147/2006 Gudjala People #2 Ngrragoonda Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
26/11/2013 QUDB009/1999 Ewamian People #2 Tatampi Puranga Aboriginal Corporation
RNTBC
26/11/2013 QUDB018/2001 Ewamian People #3 Tatampi Puranga Aboriginal Corporation
RNTBC
01/11/2013 QUD6014/2001 Mamu People Mamu Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
24/09/2013 QUD6008/1999 Western Yalanji #4 Western Yalanji Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
24/09/2013 QUD6003/2001 Western ;(Sa;nélgombmed Western Yalanji Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
23/09/2013 QUD111/2004 Warrungu People #2 Goondaloo Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
Wadj Tableland Yidinji Aboriginal
26/03/2013 QUD208/2004 Tableland Yidinji People #3 adjanbarra Tableland idinji Aborigina
Corporation
14/12/2012 QUD6030/1999 Tableland Yidinji People Wadjanbarra Tableland Yidinji Aboriginal
Corporation
10/12/2012 QUD6109/1998 Tagalaka People Tagalaka Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
10/12/2012 QUD6020/2001 Tagalaka People #2 Tagalaka Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
09/10/2012 QUD6230/1998 Jangga People Bulganunna Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
Combined Mandingalbay | Gunggandiji-Mandingalbay Yidinji Peoples PBC
S RLD6016/2001 Yidinji - Gunggandii Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
02/08/2012 QUD208/1997 Djungan People #1 Nguddaboolgan Native Title Aboriginal
Jung P Corporation RNTBC
: Nguddaboolgan Native Title Aboriginal
02/08/2012 QUD6022/1998 Djungan People #2 Corporation RNTBC
. Nguddaboolgan Native Title Aboriginal
02/08/2012 QUD6116/1998 Djungan People #3 Corporation RNTBC
. Nguddaboolgan Native Title Aboriginal
02/08/2012 QUD6036/2001 Djungan People #4 Corporation RNTBC
01/08/2012 QUD85/2005 Gugu Badhun People #2 | Gugu Badhun Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
19/12/2011 QUD6013/2001 Combined Gunggandji  |Gunggandji PBC Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
14/12/2011 QUD6035/2001 Muluridji People #2 Muluridji Tribal Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
14/11/2011 QUD6208/1998 Muluridji People Muluridji Tribal Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
01/09/2011 QUDB003/2003 Djiru People #2 Djiru Wa”angb”rs'\ffggg'na' Corporation
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Federal Court

Registered Native Title

Date Claim Name
Number Body Corporate

01/09/2011 QUDB006/2003 Diiru People #3 Djiru Warrangburra Aboriginal Corporation
RNTBC

31/08/2011 QUD296/2008 Wanyurr Majay People Wanyurr-Majay Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC

26/07/2011 QUD6249/1998 Juru (Cape Upstart) People ALt VR A el GRSl e
RNTBC

08/10/2010 QUD6001/2003 Jirrbal People #1 Wabubadda Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC

08/10/2010 QUD41/2004 Jirrbal People #2 Wabubadda Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC

08/10/2010 QUD42/2004 Jirrbal People #3 Wabubadda Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC

Combined Dulabed and Dulabed Malanbarra and Yidinji Aboriginal
L QUIDEIZ 0T Malanbarra Yidinji Corporation RNTBC
10/12/2009 QUD6240/1998 Girramay People Girramay People Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
. , Choorechillum (Ngadjon Jii PBC) Aboriginal

12/12/2007 QUDB027/1999 Ngadjon-Jii People Corporation RNTBC

24/04/2006 QUD6015/1998 | Mandingalbay Yidinji People| ™MaNdingalbay Yidini Aboriginal Corporation
RNTBC

17/02/2006 QUD6089/1998 Western Yalanji People | Western Yalanji Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC

17/12/2004 OUD6002/1998 Diabugay People Djabugay Native Title Aboriginal Corporation
RNTBC

28/06/2001 QUD6222/1998 Bar-Barrum People Bar-Barrum Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC

28/09/1998 QUD6002/1996 Western (Sunset) Yalanji | Western Yalanji Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
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deruruaal Binandisl repoa
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Directors’ report

Thea dirachirs presen el repod togathas with the Bnancial stalemaents of MNadh Queensiand Land Couwndl Matha Title

Representatve Body Aborigenal Corporabon (the "Corporaton”) for the Bnancial year ended 30 June 2025 and the
audior's report thereon.

Operating and financial review
The net (deficifsurplus from ordinary activiies afier income tax amounted 1o ($446) (2024: $30,167).

State of affairs
There wene no sigbcant changes. in the Comporation’s siade of affars during the Bnancial year.
Principal activities

The principal activity of the Corporation during the course of the financial year was 1o provide high quality Natwe Tisle
senvices 10 radBonal owmer Qroupings: Theowphout the Morh Oueensiand regeon.

Theee wene no sapnibcan] changes. i the nabene of the actvilies of the Conporation during the year.

Events subsequent to reporting date

There has not arsen in the nterval between the end of the fmancal year and the dale of this repord any malier o
cacuemstance that has sinbeantly aflected or may sagnfcanty affect the operations of the Comporaton, the results of
theasn operabons. o By Stake of alfairs of the Comporakon, n lulung nancal years.

Likely developments

The direciors erndsage thal the Compocation will continue i exisling opecaions, subjsct io the receipl of hulure funding
from government and other SoUrces.

Environmental regulation

Theés Conrpaoralion s operabiong e nol Subjec] bo defry partiuls and Siynificind ennvinonmenbal reguiiticons e githes
Commormwealth or Stale legislabion. Howinngr, the Board beliewes thatl the Corporabion has adequale Systems in place
for the management of ds emironmental requirements and iS5 nol ware of any breach of hose ermaronemental

requirements as they apply 1o the Conporataon.
Distributions

The Corporabion’s consiiulon preciudes. il fnom desinibutng any surplsses o members. Accordmngly, no destnbulons
wid paid, récommndad, or declansd by he Comporaion during Bl yodar.
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Direclors

The directors of the Corporation at any me during or sincg the end of the nancial year ang:

Angeling Aken
Expenance

Tradiional Changs

Sarah Addo

Tradiional Cwner

Chairperson and Direclor

President of Townsville ABIS Community Housing Cooperatve (MABO 30 year Celsbration)
Deputy Chair lor Abodiginal TS lslander Housing Peak OLD

Deputy Chair for Abodnginal TS Islander Mealth Senvice Advigory Councld

Member - Oueansiand Govemment Housing Ouicome lor Dider Wiomen 55 years & older
Ebder adhisor and e member Garboll biagpees Sporting Associalon

Towngvile Ayt

Bandal | Juru

Deputy Chairperson and Direcbor

Certificate Il in Business

Cenmificate Il in Social Housang

Centificate Ill in Primary Health Care

Certificate IV in Justice

Cestificate I, Il and Il in Community Sport and Recrealion

Studying Bachelor of Laws — Deakin University

Studying Cestificate IV in Child. Youth and Family Intervention
Adminestraton [ Office Manages

Regonal Manager for the Indigenous Community Spor and Recreation Ofcer Program
Events Manager / Coondinator of Community Camivals, Actvities. Programs and Projects
Project Managas

Adminiiraor hor the Woompera Muralug Cooperalivg Socaty

Mative Tisle Consultant — Australian Federal Mateve Title Cowd Hearings

Chasrperson of the W Chopperen hedcal Centre

Tribal Consultant of the Kunggandj Kamoi-Yarrabuera Tribal Eiders Councd

Cams

Geemondura- ¥ amabuera Kunggandy Gumabuna Peoples, fradibonal cusiodians of Cams.
and Yarrahah and descends from ithe Koo Bera Clan of Kowanyama

Treasurer — ceasad 161250024 and Direcior
Mayor of Palm kland

Member of State & Commomvealth Advisory Boands
Palm Ekand

Ewamaan

Treasurer — glected 16122024 and Director
Trasning Manages

Trasner and assesson

TAFE Toacher

Charfers Towers Hughenden

Gugu Badhun / Nadkng

P
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Tradtonal O

Joann Schmider

Traditiosnal Cwner

Warmren Mariens

Tradional Chwner

Comespondence Secrelary - ceased 161272024 and Director
Comificase IV in Butangss Govormancs

Ingsgenous Cultural Educator and Performer

Mayor of Yamabah Aboriginal Shire Councd Oid (2012 - 2016)
30 years Actvist on the ssues of Social Justice and Land Rghts
Chasperson of MOLC Boand (2012 - 2015)

Yamabah

Dpengan

Comespondence Secretary — elected 16122024 and Dirsclor

Coificabos IV in Govemancd: Indigenoys Leadership: Commumily Cultung; Local
Gaorvermment; Matural Disasters Reslenca Leadership; and Traning and Assesement DipT
{Prim) and Bachelor ol Educaton

PhiD Candidate = Cultural Knowiedge & Towrkem

Graduale Cerificates in Socal Administraton (Community Developmeni], Indigenous
Research and Research Methods

Graduale, Auttrakan IntStute of Company Deeciors 2016

Representaivg Mamu Mative Title Claim Appicant. 2007-13 and member of the NT working
group, IPA Cultural Advisor

Prevvious direcior on teo RNTBC's, one as an independent

Currently a Deecior of Indigenous member on wo local’subeegional, and two natonal
nitweos advocaling Indigenous inlerests

Chasperson and sub-commities member of one State level business entity sening
Incritus COMMmunties

Appoanied ke memiber of an FRNO cullure and aris regeonal endity

Tablealands

Brogks apical tamiy of the Warbarra dialect and locality group of the Mamu nathe e

holders of the Dyirbalngan language naton

Direcior

Corporate Govemance & Financial Management Traning & Anainment
WVanous indusing nidalied Bokats, Boendes and oeiicates

Moo Di abaoriairl € :
Indepenous Mamber SI5P [Terrasn MRM)

Volurteer, empiayes & board member for vanous organsatons

Itz

IDerus

Direcior
Cermificate Il in Deabilty Support
Pl Salety Oficer

Cusiomer Service Suppori
Disablity Suppor Worker

Caimes

Geemondurra: ¥ amabera Kunggandy Gurrabuna Peoples, iradibonal cusiodans of Cams.
and Yasrabah and descends irom the KoKo Bera Clan of Kowanyama
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Gary Mooney

Trautoral Owiss

Patrick Wheebsr

Tradional Cwner

Ditector

Conificabe IV in Business Govomantg

Land and Sea Managoment

19 yoars of irvobrement wih Merr Walch

3.5 yoars as a Polcg Liaison Qo as well a5 gxpergncg in fhi Moysng
Co-pperative

Prosenpens hilackay
Yo

Director - appointed 07012025

15 years active member of Ewamian Abonginal Conporation as a Cultuwral Heritage Officer
Monitonng and Minang Tenement Admanstirator Propect Offosy

4 years a5 an Indigenouys Liaison Dificer Catholc Educalion

3 years a5 a Cultural Advisor in Eardy Childhood Education

Tablelands

Ewamian | Dipngan

Director - appoinied 0T/01/2025

Graduate Dipdoma of Indigenous Land & Sea Management
Bachelor of Arts in Communty kManagement & Adult Education
Adbranced Daploma in Commisnty blanagement

Diplomna Business Frontine Management

Centificate IV in Buginess Governance; and Training and Assettment
Maragement

Consenvalipn and Ecosystiems hManagement
Tiowsrism aind Hospitality

Suppodied Accommodaion, Youlth Weork and School Suppor
Tully

Myrwag J Manbama

Director - appoinied 14052025

Graduate Cerificale of Social Impact Assessment

Bachelor of Arts from Faculty of Scence (Honowrs)

Bachelor of Comenymity Managemend

Varigues indusiry related bckeds. bcences and cerificates
Chairperson of Aboriginal & Tomes Strail kslander Health Community Consultation
Committee; and Tagalaka Croyoon Resenve Abongainal Land Trust

40 years of rvobvement in Abongnal Qrganssations

22 years working for Oueensiand Ral Towism

10 years in the miring secior

T years a3 an ghected Local Government Councillior (Carpentasia Shire)
Mlount Gamet

Tagalaka

Corporation Secretary

Mir Loon Yeatman was apporded o the posilion of Compomtion Secrotany on 1 July 2023 lollowing the resignaton of Ms

RNon0a JAcobaen whd hidd the poSiton Since 18 Febhuary 2022,
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Directors’ meetings
The number of dirgciors’ mpetings and number of megtings attended by gach of the directors of the Comporation during
e Bnancial yoar ane:

Director Mo of board meetings o of board meetings eligible

l

]
ﬁuuuuuummmmml

S = M W n & D W O R A

At the Ward elections held 21 October 2023, dinecions wene elected for each Ward for the 2023-2025 jemm.
The 2024 Coporation’s Annual General Meeting was heid in Caims on 30 November 2024,

Proceedings on behalf of the Corporation

During the yaar, no person has mate apphcation o kave in respect of the Comorabon under secton 169-5 of the
Coporaions [Abongnal and Tomes Sirad Blncker) Act 2006 [T “A").

During the year, no person has brought or intervanad in peoceedings. on behalf of the Corporation with leave under
secton 169-5 of the Act



Mot Chagnglaed Lind Council Mative Titky Repretonitivg Body Abodbginall Corporstion
Arnnpsl fingngial

Ll
For the yoar ended 30 Jong 1005

Auditor's independence declaration
Al md B during the Bnancial year ended 30 June 2025 was an ofcer of he Comporalion the audiion, a parine in the
el i, o 8 dieecion of the sucH compaemy Bhad andericok the s of the Corporation kof thal Bnancial year,

Tt b aucilon’s independence deckaration is et out on the foliowing page and Sorms part of the Snechors” nepaorn for
the Snancial oo ended B0 Jung 2025

Thss report &5 made ol in accondance with 8 nesolution of the deacion:

Mi-‘&ffﬂﬂar thin day of
CAIdnvs




o GrantThornton

Grank Thornton Aot Piy Lid
Calrs Corporate Towess
Larvsd 13

% Lk Sineet

PO B 7500
Cairrss O 45TD

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
to the directors of North Queensland Land Council

Native Title Representative Body Aboriginal Corporation

I ccoedancs with e pequiserments of secton 330-50 of the Comporaions (Abongingl and Tomes Siradl islander) A
2006, a% lead audiior for B audl of Morth Guesnsiand Land Councl Nathe Tise Representative Body Aboriginal

Corpotation lor the year ended 30 June H025, | deciass that, bo e best of my knowledgs and balel, fene have boen:

& Mo confraveniions. of the audBon independencs reguiremsnts. a3 ol oul in e Coporaions (Abarginal and
Torres Siradf abander) Aok 2006 in redabon i e s and

b Mo contranentions. of any appicable osde of professional condudt in reiaSon i B audd

T g1 T 4000 S

C;-I"m::l' Themlen

Grand Thoemion Audll Pty Lid
Charbered Accountants

H A Villces
Partner — Audit & Assuranos

caims, DA "Gapl 205

WR AT TEOr £ e SR
ACRN B S

Ciewet Thcrston Aot Py L8 ACN 100510 354 5 sobsatary of rekatod ey of Grant Thomioe Aosirals Limded ASM 01 137 556 S AN 107 554 585 Vot
Thorsion pelery I B b arder whwch ey Dot Thomion s lees prowc Fiseriis, Lo i Svadry i I P Chosli mads il 1 ot OF i
et e, i ot o] regue Gt Mhorsice Ausireia | imsied o 8 memter e of Graet Thorsion inderatoral L (G I ) GTL el ey meeloer fremy arw:
mol i woridende farrarite GTL e sack moster fem o0 bl logal erdly Sorves e dolvered By Pu mesber tems G dosa ol prowscs servoes 1
cherts, I ared by mermben v e recl agenin. of, ared d il pblgate Gre aolfer s i FeE latle o g eciens 408 O s 10 P Aoaialan civiien
ey B ke o e s "l Thhersiton sy ol i Dl Thorsiton Aosdrala Lesbed AEN 47 117 304 3 ACN 12T 558 395 ard s Aandrabon wbaadares wd
poeplen] avdiliary | albaliby ealesd By o notera pproemd orcer Prolieicrol Thareied L oeadater
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Statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 30 June 2025

o 24
Hate 1 ]
Income
Freanug and mdomg T 13,198,529 11,685,458
Gain on sake of property. plant and egupment 27641 25,729
13.236.170 11,711 187
Expenses
Contraciors and consultants 8 3380811 2083972
Dwecior expenses 151 546 153,305
highod vhacies 31124 &2.562
Travel and meetings G38.614 BIT.643
Empicyse sxpentes 9 5519829 5302 038
Rent 3335 4,505
Interest 13.999 18,999
Senitl Sxpenses 0 2990817 2685431
Property. plant and equepemsni 109,353 107.153
intangibie assels 35, TE2 55.548
Right-of-use assets a1.682 B1.5M
Other expenses 1 226 988 515,870
13 224 693 11 678997
Results from operaling activities 1471 32 190
Finance costs 1917 2023
Het finance costs 1917 20203
Met surplus (deficit) belore tax (446) 30167
intorme fax sapenie B5 - .
Nel surplus (deficit) (446) 20,167
Ciher COmprehansieg ncims - -
Total comprehensive income (loss) 445 30167

Tt statetrmesrl Shanuid ibeer el i conguncbon wilh Bhe nobes o B nancal Stlements.
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Statement of financial position

As at 30 June 2025

froire o
LI 5 4
Adtels
Cash and cath ddguivalents 12 8.557 400 7 A21 447
Imestments &A 25300 25.300
Trade and other recesrables 13 405 688 377561
Current assets 9071 387 7936, 160
Proporty, plant and eduipmisn i5 1.502.119 1528 858
Raght-of-use assets 16 119,343 158 357
Indaragibley epets i7 30 854 B0 435
NoR-current assels 1,652 316 1,787 651
Total assels 10,723,703 9.724.411
Liabilit s
Trade and offer ponralies 9 1.727 D68 1,081,307
Contract liabdtes 20 6,349,367 £ B5H 552
Employes benehis ]| S07.097 568 584
Lease abadites 22 Q.09 B3338
Curmeént liabilities BETIEI 7,591,781
Employes benefiis 21 T2 616 B6.536
Lease haidites 22 44 336 132138
Mon-current ltabilities 116.952 155 064
Total Habilitkes 8. 790 583 7790, 845
Mel assets 1,533,120 1,933 588
Equity
Ristanted Suplus 1,933 120 1,933 5856
Total equity 1,933,120 1,833 566

This stadermasnt Shooid b e in conpancion wih B noles 0 S inancial stabements.
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Statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 30 June 2025

Retained surpius

2035 34
5 $
Balance at 1 July 1,933 566 1,903,399

Total comprehensive incomeg
Nel surplus. (defhct) [446) 3167
Tiptal gtf COMpRETending inmi . .
Total compreherdive noome 1,933,120 1,933 566
Balance al 30 June 1.933.120 1,933,566

This stademepnt shouid be read in congancion with the notes o the fnancal sialements.
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Statement of cash flows

For the year ended 30 June 2025

ot Fruini |
Hote : ] 5

Cash Mows lrom operaling activities
ROctapts MOM QonnBriement giants 14,990,989 13322924
Paymenis 1o supplers and employesas {13,887 929) (12 TEd 414)
Cash generated frpm opirating actnabes 1. 103.0&0 558 510
interesi receied 80,100 B3.5482
Other recepis 112 698 74 605
Het cazh Inom operaling activities 23 1,295 858 716,697

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sake of property. plant and equipment 28,636 2046
Acguesiton of property. plant and eguipment (83.642) (114.704)
Actpngition of nianglbes {7.200) -
Acguisition of investments - .
Met cash (used in)from investing activities (62.206) {112.658)

Cash fiows from financing activitkes
Payment of lease kabddes (97.699) [94.681)
Mat cash from' (used in) financing activities (57 655 [94.6581)
Mt increass in cash and cash eguivalents 1135953 509,358
Cash and cash eguivalents at 1 July i2 TA20 447 £912,089
Cash and cash equivalents al 30 June 2 8,557 400 7421 447

Theg stadgrmaant Shouid D read i ConganCon wilh T noles 30 Ty Snancial stalgmpnts.
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Reporling entity

Morth Queensiand Land Coundl Matve Tite Representative Body Abosginal Corporation (the “Corporation”) is an
Abonginal Corporation domiciled in Australia. The Corporalion's registened office is at 61 Anderson Sireel. Caims QLD
4870, The Corporatinn s a not-for-pool entity and & primasily frveobred in Mative Tilhe Sendces.

2 Basis of accounting

Staterment of compliance

The fnancial stalements ang goneral purpose financial statements which have been propaned in accondance with
Fusstrakan Accounting Standads — Semplfed Disciosures adopled by the Ausirakan Accouning Standarnds Boand
FAASE") and the Corporations (Abongingl and Tormes Shead lslander) Act 2006

Bacauss the Comporabon & a nl-hor-peofil entity and the Australian Actguning Standards mcleds nadgueniments bor mdl-
for-profit entities which ane inconsictent with Internaional Financial Reporting Standants (IFRS5") to the extent thess
INCONSLIeNCES Arg Appied., he Finandial Statements of the Corporation oo not comply with IFRSS adopted by the
infemational Accounting Standasds Board, The main impact & the timing of the recognition of grant income.,

The financial stalements were authorised lor issue by the Board of Direcions on the date shosn on the dineciors”
dhescdiaradamn.

Basis ol measurement

Economic dependency and going concem

The financial stalements have been peepared 0n a poing concem basis, which contemplates continusty of nomnal
Butingss acthilies and the realabon of ditets and setmement of Eabilities n the ondinary axerde of busines.

Tha Corporation 5 & nol-for-profil endity and B neliand on gonasmmenl funding in oeder 10 ConSnge it operaSons.

irepresantatve body) for the North Ouweensland area fior a fusther theee-year peniod from 01 July 2023 fo 30 June 2026,

in addition 10 its necognition penod above, the Corporation was approved cofe operational and PBC Suppod funding o
el Ehri-yieaer pisind lram O July 2023 1o 30 Juné 2026, The Corporabon's Head Agréement and Projec] Schidube
refiact the appecved theee-year ending alocation.

The Coeporatinn's prionithes ower the coming years ar: the conduct of reseanch in those aneas that are not yel
determined; the prosecution of current clasms 10 sacune recognition of nate ttke nghts and intenests; indgemant of
futung nateg tithe apRECAtons pursuant 10 the research fingings: on -going support for estabished PBC's and support for
nerw FBL s a3 they are delenmened; and, pursud of compensabon clasms whede nabhve ble nghts. and ndenesis have

3 Functional and presentation currency
These fnancial stadements e presenbed in Ausirakan dollars, which i3 the Corporaton s Snclional curmency.

4 Use of judgements and estimates

In propanng Ehose fnancal statements. management has mase Lagements, ostmates and assumpbons thal atftoct the
apphcation of the Corporaton's accountng policses and the reponed amounts of assets, kabidites, income and
expenses  The estemates and assocaled assumpbons ane based on haborcal expenence and other vanous Lackors that
are beboved 10 bo reasonable undor tho circumstances. the results of which form the basis of making the judgmaents.
Altuhl rédults mdy Gilled Tecem Mheldd Sdbemuliles.

o
P
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Estmates and underhying assumplions ae reviewed on an ongoeng basis. Flovisions 10 0s5Males are recognised
oDty

Judgements

The Cofporaion enbessd o a conbiact 1o rent ofica Space as deciosad n Mobe 22. Managémant has deténmanid hal

s Condract Comays the right 10 condrod the use of an identhied assel for a peniod of ime in exchangt for congidoration,
and has thereione determined the contract contains a lease.

Assumplions and estimation uncertainties

Management i not aware of any assumpons and estimation uncertaintes that have a significant risk of resulting in a

5 Changes to standards and accounting policies

Standards issved but ol yet ellective

Ay rrer O amgndied Actounting Standards o Interpretations that ane not yet mandatony hanve ot been carly adopied.
A number of new standands and amendments o standands are eflectvne lor annual perods beginning on or alier 1 July

2025, and hareé Not been appied in prepanng hese nancial statements.  These are nol expechd 10 have & Signiftant
impact on the financial stabements.

MHew and amended standards adopied

The Corporaion has adopted all the new or amended Ausiralian Accounting Standanrds issued by the AASE which are
redervant o, and effectve for, the Corporation’s financial siatements for the annual perod begmning 1 July 2024,

6  Materal accounting policy information

The adtouniing polcaes St oull baldw haneg been appled contesiently 10 all penods presentiad in these Snancial
slalements.

6.1 Revenue recognition

Rérvnipd liom conbracts with Cusloamis i recogneted by relirence by each dsiing] perdormancs oblgabion in B
conbract with the cusiomer. Renvenus fnpm contracts with cusiomens & measured al s ransaction price, being the
amound of conssdaration which the Corporaiion expects bo be entifled 10 in exchange lor iransieming promised goods o
SONGECeS B0 A cursomer, ned of goods and Sendces e, netemes, nebales and discounts. The rarssaction price i alocabed
i each peromance oblgabon on he basis of the relevani standalone selling prca ol each dstinc good of senice
peomisad in the contract Depantng on the substancs of the CONKACY, MEvenud i IECognEsad when the Peformancs
obigalon 5 satshed, whch may be all a point in Bme or ower Bme.

The Coeporaltion recognises. other revenue when the amount of revenus can be neliably measuned, it i probable that
fulung CONOMIC Denetits will Miow 10 the Corporation and specifi Criteria have Deen met Ior each of the Comporaton’s
acthvites. The Corporation bases its estmates on historcal results. taking indo consicleration the type of customaer, the
iype of ransacton and the specifics of each amanpement.

Revenue s recognesed for the magor business activities using the methods outiined below.

Fes ncanma

Revenue ansang from lees & recognsed at a point in tme when the periormance oblgatons & completed and the
CLESIOM MeOees the DeEnill Of the Senices Deng pronided.

Thl psrhoamidndd Gblgation reliles 10 the Specilic SAMvithd Dhowvided 1 i Oushome.

As amounts ano biled 10 the customer upiront, thoso are recognised as a contract kability until alier the meeting has
Lakon pAacH and the Corporaton has a nght 10 payment.
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Contract balances

Contract assets are recognisad when the Comornation has transferred goods Of Senvices 10 the cusiomer but where the

Corporaton is yet o estabish an uncendtonal right lo consderaton. Contract assets are treated as financal assels lor
R

Contract labdtes represent the Corporation’s olblkgabon 10 transher goods of Seneces 10 a Cusiomer and are recogrised
when & Cusicmer piys considenaion, or whn i Compombon recogrises & recinabla o reflect is uncondiional rght o
congickeraion (whichever is earker) before the Corporation has ranstemed the goods O SEnvices 10 the Cutiomes,

6.2 Grants and other contributions

Grants ungder AASE 15

Grants. (other than certain capital grants) ane accounted for under AASE 15 whene the grant income arises fnom an
agreament whach it enforoaable and contans sufhtently Spacic Periormancs obigatons. AS Tuch, the fevened &
recognised when each perigemance obligaton i saished.

Grants under AASE 1058

Onher grants, including coviain capital grants, ang generally adtounbed lor under AASE 1058,

Thee Brmineg of income recognition wnder AASE 1058 is dependent upon whether the transachon gives rise 1o a Kabdty o
other periomance oblgaton at the Bme of recespl. income under the standand ks recognised where:

=  an assel is recewed in a ransachon, such as by way of granl, bagues! o donabon;

= [here has edher baen No CONSerabion iransiened, of B ConSaiaralon paud & SOSCantly s than the assars taar
value; and

& fhe mtenon is 10 principaly enabls the entity 1o further its objectives.

Assals arsing from grants in B scope of AASE 1058 ane recognised af the assels” fair valpes when the assels am
recened. Any relabed kabdty of equly fems assocated wih the asset afe recogrised = accondance with the relevant
accounting standand. Onaoe the atsel and any relabted bty o equity Berms have bedn recognissed, then ndome 5
recognised lor any remaining asset value al the teme the asset ks recedved.

Foe transfers of financial assets (usually cash andior a recehable) 1o the Corporation which enabls it 10 acquine of
Corsinec] & rechgneable non-Bnancial dtded, & by i redogaited for the txcets of the bawr value of the bransher
recehved over gy redated amounts recognised. Related amounts recognised may redate 10 conlributions by (esamers,
AASH 15 revenue of ooniract kabilty recognised, lease kabilifies in accosdance with AASE 16, financial insinements in
acopedance with AASE 9, or prowigions in accondancp with AASE 137, The Exbility is beowghl 10 AC000n] 5 inComey onegr
e period b which the Comporation salisfes s perdomance obligaiion.

6.3 Finance income and finance costs
Fndncs intome and Bnance costs indiuds nléres! ncome and mleres! eapinss. INMGrest INCOMme of S1pints &
6.4 Employee beneafils

Shori-lenm banalils

Sht-1e Smphyied Deneiits ahd aapendad &5 the felaled Serice S proviced. A Bablty S reoogiied fod I Sl
expeciod 1o bo paid il the Corporation has a present logal or consinacting obligation 10 pay this amounl a5 a resull of
Pas! SeniCa DIoVI0Rd [y the empioyese and the obQANON Can be estemalod rekably.

Supprannuation contributions

Obbgatons for contnbutons 10 supivannuaton are expensed as the related senvice s provided . The contnbutons made
by the Comporation for the year ended 30 June 2025 were $683.614 (2024: $671,673).
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Other long-lerm employes benefits

The Corporation's net oblgation in respect of long-term employes benedits is the amount of future benely that
empioyees have eamed in refum for thesr senace in the curent and prior penods.  That benedt i dacourted o
determing its present value. Remeasurements ang recognised in iNCome Of eXpense in the penod in which they arise.
Termination benefits

Tormnation bonelits ane exponsed at the carkr of when the Comporation can nd Ingor withdraw the ofier of those

benelis and when the Corporabion recognises cosis of restruectuning. B the benelis ane not expecied 1o be setled
wholly wilhin 12 months a1 the end of the reporting penod, then thiy ane decounted.

6.5 Income lax
The Gorporalion i exempd from incoma tan under Division 50 of the income Tax Assessment Aot 15237

6.6 Inlangible assels
Recognition and messwremeant

Acouered mtangible assets

Acouired compuier software kcences are capiaksed based on the costs incuwred o acguine and insiall the specific
softwane,

Infemnaly denreloped softwane

Expenditure on the resaanch phase of prosects 10 Sevelop new cusiomesed software § recognsed a5 an expense as
nCyrmad.

i O el il the Aty b LUt OF Sad e Soltweane; And

L
= fthe prganisalion intends lo and has sufficient respunces o complele the progect
= the softeare will generale probable future econpmar benplits

Dervelopment costs nol meeting these cnlena lor capiakeatnn ane expensed a5 incumed.

Subsequen] measursment

Al intangible assets, ncluding ntemally developed soffwane, ane accounted for using the cost moded whenetry
Capithlited OO4is Are Sfdrtebad o & Sirayhl -l Dldel vl il ebmaled uialul e, &5 bl Siiob g Obidahenid
finite. Rosicual valpes and usalul ves are reviewed al each reporting date and adiusted il appropriabe. Thae Solicwing

useful beis ane appied:

s Sohware 3-5years
S _ -

s DotuMment Management Sysiem 1-3years
+ Ocher soltware 0 yoars

Subsequent expenditure on the manenance of computer Software & expented as incurmed.
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6.7 Property, plant and equipmeani

Recognition and messurement

Rems of property, plant and equipement Afe meatured al Cod! less accumulated deprecialion and any Sccumulted
impairment logses. Rems with a cost o other valpe egual o, of in excess of 55,000 ane recogrised for financial
repOdiEng punposes in the year of acquisithon. ems with & besser value ane expensad in the ypear of acquesiton.

H sagnifacant parts of an Bem of propeddy, plant and aquipment have diferen] uselul Boes, then they ané actounted lor as
$OpArale Bems (Magr COmponents) of proporty, plant and equipment.

Arry gain oF bass on despasal of an ilem of property. plant and odquipment S MeCOgRERed N RO OF Gxponss.

Subsequent expenditure

Subseguent expenditure is capilaksed only when it i probable thatl the future econdmic benefits associated with the
expenditure will Bow 10 the Compormation.

Depreciation

Depreciation ks calculated to write off the cost of peoperty. plant and eguipment less their estimated residual values
using the strasght-bne bass over thesr estsnated usetul bves. Land s nof deprecated.

The depreciation rates uted lof each class of depreciable a5561 are At lolows:

» Buddings 25%-5%

» Fumiue, fafures and BEngs 4% - 25%

s Moor wehicies 125%

»  Office oquipment 10% - 33.39%

+  Legaseholkd smpeovements S326% - 85T
Depreciabon methods, useful ves and residual values are reviewed al each reporting date and adpssted i apperopnabe.

6.8 Rental bond

The Comporation has guaranieed, &% pan of thesr opérating kease lor 122 Walur Streel, Towngaille, thit paryment of
rentals in accordance with the signed agreement loe the spechied lease e, The enms of the Base agreement
requared the Comporaton i secune a bank guaranies of £25 300 a5 menemoum COMpensaton payments: o the kEssor n
their il of defaull. The dineciors considened no Eability i requined 1o be recogrised in respect of this guaranies a5 the
Coeporation ks in compliance with the lease agreement. A temm deposil 10 secine the bank guaranies has been
esiabieshed.

6.9 Financial instruments

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Trade niCdivabhls dnd mitially reCopnesed whin thiy dng onginabéd. AN other fndndial 235015 and Fndndial Eabdites & o
initally recognesed when the Corporalon becomes a party o the conlraciual provisions of the instrument.

A Bnanc:al ASSel, unless i S A Ira0e fecervabie without & SNACant BNancang COMPONent, of & fnancal kabdty o s kaly
mebasured al las vilod plus, Iod & B Aol al R walod thecugh peolil oF 043, rangachon ooSis thal ane dineclly
abtributable 1o its acpEston of issue. A tade receivable without a significant fnancing component 5 nitially measured
&l e DrarS SN preds.

A Bnancisl assel i denstognissd whisn the contractual rights i the cash Bows npm the financial asse! expire, or whn
the financial asset and al substantal raks and rewards of ownershp afo ranshered.

A Bnancial kaleity is derecognsed when its contractual obbgabons are dscharged, canceded of gapee.
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Classification and subsequent maeasunemisnt

Financial assets

For the purpose of subsegquent measurement. financial assets are classified into the loliwing caliegories upon initial
PECOgnton:

= Amoricsd oot

= lar value through prost of les

o ety adinemients al R valud thicugh ofier COMpoeierthng incomid

= debl Netruments at e valee Bngugh othe GOMprehensing ndomie

Classfications are determingd by both:

# fthe Comporation’s busingss model for managing the financial asset

= ithe contraciual cash fiow charactenstics of the financial ascel

Al income and expenses relabing to nancial assels that ase recognesed in profit or loss are presenbed withen fnance
INCOME, HRanNce COSS OF oIher Bnancial Bems, except 100 IMPAIMEnt of Mace redelvabies whth S presented withan othey
BEPEMSES.

Francisl aseeis af amodcted cosl

A Enancial asset s measured al amorised cost if @ meets both of the lollowing condiions and &5 not designated as al

i walue theough peolit or loss:

» it i5 held within a business model whose objecie s o hold assets o colect conbraciual cash flows., and

= iis conirachsal ierms gie nse on specibed dates io cash flows thal are solely payments of prhncipal and mnieresi on
ithe princapal amcunl culitandng

Aftor inilial recognition, these ane measuned al amorissed oosl using the effective nleres) method, Desoouniing i

omited whete the eflect of discounting is mmaterial. The Corporation has determened that all of its financial assets i3l

willhan T Sfmdrissed OOl Calagony.

Fananc:al kawies

For the purpose ol subsequeni measurement, linancal kabltes ane classibed 35 measured ai amorised cost of Las
wialud theough peolil or logs. A financial Kakulity i clatiibed a5 Law valus heough peolil or lo6s @ il & held lor- irading.
iOher fanancaal kalwlies are subsequenty measured at amorised oosi usng the efleciee nierest method.

The Corporaton has only fnancial kabdtes classled a5 Mmeasured a1 aMoMsed cost

6.10 Impairment
Hon-derivative financial asssls

Financial assats and CONIact Assals

Thet Corporalion uses forward knoking inlammalion 1o recognse expecied credt losses — the ‘expeciad credd losses

(ECL) model. Instnements within the Soops of thess equnements include lbans and trade nedehabiips.

The Corporation consicers a broad range of nlormation when assessng credd rsk and measunng oxpecied crodi

sses, including pasi events, current cond@ons, reasonable and supportable forecasts that afect the expacied

ColisCtabity of e fufurd CaLh Mows of ey ncddnamint.

b dpglying Uhiss foradund-looiong Approach, & daindton S msdd Débwben:

o fnancul 355015 that Rave nol delengaatod Sgnificantly o Credt Qually Snce indal reCogniton of Il have ow Credt
risk (Stage 1) and

»  fancsal assats that hine delevorated sgniicanty in oroch qualty sinte neul ecogneton and whoss oot ek
nol low [Stage )
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‘Stage T would cover fnancial assets that have obsective evidence of impasrment al the meporting date.

“12-month expecied crsdl iosses” are recognesed for the first calegony whils Tlelime expaciad Credi nases’ anp
recognsed lor the second category.

Measurement ol the expoecied oredt lotses i determened by a probabisty wosghted ettemate of credd ltses over the
expeciad g of the financial asset.

Trade and oifvy rpcenvables and conlrac! atels

The Corparabion makes use of a samplihed approach n atoountng for rade and other recevables as well as Conlrac]
assets and reconds the loss alicwancs al e amount egual 1o the expecied Betime credl iosses. In using this practcal
eapedionit, the Corporaton utes i heiontal eapeniencs, exbermal mdcatons and Mnward-iookang informaton 1 caliulate
the gxpeacied cradil losses Lming A peovision mairi.

The Coeporatinn assesses impaimment of irade recedvables on a collactive basis as they possess credl risk
characiorishos bated on the days past due. The Compoeaton does nol alow ke write off rom Govemmend geants o
delault has nenver occumed.  The Gorporalion has assessed rade recetvables al 30 June 2025 and has dedenmined that
na imparnment s requred at thal date.

Hon-financial assels

Al each reporting date, the Corporabon reveews the camying amounts of s non-nancial assets iy Gelermene whelher
there it any infication ol mparment. i any such Indication exists, then the assel’s recoverable amount it esimated.
The recirnerabie: amound of a0 assel 5 the greader of it value n use and @5 B valued bess costs 1o sell. As the
Coeporation is a nod-for-peofil endity, valpe in wse is the written dowmn curmen repiacement cost of an asset as the fulune

economic heneite of the assed ane nol primarnily dependent on the astels ability o generade net cash nfiows and s the
eitity would, i deprved of the assel. replace its remaming fulurg econgmc benefits.

n impairnent ks B recogrised i the camying amount of an asset exceeds is necoverable amount.
impairment iosses are recognised in expenses.

An imgpasrment lpss 5 reversed only 10 the extent thal the assel’s camying amound does ndd excesd the Camying amont
thal would haee been determined, nel of depraciabion of Amoriation, il no Mmpairment loss had besn necogeted.

6.11 Provisions

Provisions ane determinad by discounting the expected future cash fiows al a pre-tax raite thal reflects cument market
assesomants of the me vakes of money and the ncks specific o the kahdty. The wrsinding of e descount s

recognised as Snance costs.

6.12 Leases

Al incepion of a conlract, the Corporaiion assesses whether he contract is. or contains, a keasa. A conlract i, o
Contang 3 ase I the CoNbracl Comeys M right 10 Conbnoll I wht: of a0 idenEhed 35381 or & Donod of e in exchangs
for considerabion. To assess whether a coniract commeys e nght o conirod the use of an dentifed asset, the
Corporalion uses the definition of 4 lease in AASE 16.

AE B eSS

Al COMMENCEMENt of 0N MONSLARoN of & CONAC thal CONLANS 3 lease Component, the Conporatan alocates the
consichiration in the contract 1o each lase componsnt on the bases of its relative stand-along price. Mon-lase

components included in the lease agreement have been separated and are recognised as an expenss a5 ncurred.

The Corporaton recogneses a right-of-use asset and a kease kabdty at the lease commencement date. The night-ol-use
asse! i initally méasured al cos!. which comprises the inital amount of the léase kability adusted ioe any kase
payments made al of bedore the commencement date, phus any ntal drect costs ncumed and an estmate of costs o
CRMANTE AN FEMmove The unddrying A55e! of 10 resIong the underying assel of Ie it on which it i localed. eSS any
Tha nght-of-wid K850 S SUDSOGUINTY S0P EOIIed WEng the SHaGh -l mathod Irgem th COMMOnCement dahs 1o the
&nd of th Ase WM, urkeds T Ase rANSMVE Ownbriihg of I undedying A5381 10 the Corporason by the end of the

i@
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mmvnmnuum—uwummnnﬂum-lmﬁummm. in thai case,
the fight-ol-ute azaet wil be Seprecated ovir the Lzl e of the undertying asset, which i3 determened on the same
basis a5 those of propedy. plant and equipment. In addition, the right -of-use assel is perodcally reduced by mpairmgnt
ksses, i ey, and adpusted for cartain re-measuremants of the lease Rabdity.

Ther bease kabddy is mvbaly measured al the present value of the lease payments that ane nol pasd at the
commencement dabe, discounied using the interest rale implhcal in the kease or, i that rate cannot be readily determined.
the Corporation’s intremental bomowing rale. Generally, the Corporalion uses i incremantal bomowing rate as the
RO A

The Corporalion delenmines is incremental bomoesing rate by oblaining nferest rales from vakous extemnal Bnancing
sources and makes oplan adusbments 1o reflect the lerms of the leaso and bype of the asso! lpased.

Leass payments incleded in the measurement of the lease kablity comprise the following where apphcable:

»  fied payments, including in-substance fioed payments;

= vanable leace payments thal depend on an index or 3 rale, nitally measured wsing the index o rate as at the
commencament dabe;

» amounts expecied o be payable under a resadual valpe guaranies; and

= lhe exencise price under a purchase oplion that the Cofporalion & reasonably certain 10 exercse, lease payments. in
an opSonal rendwal penod i the Coporation & niatonably CRrtan 1 exertee An exierdson opticn, and pernalties Sor
earty termination of a lease yniess the Comomaton is reasonably cerasn nol 1o lermanale early.

The keace kabdity 5 measured at amortsed cost using the electyve nterest method. it i re-measured when there is a

changs in lubure leace payments aksng inem a change in an index or rale, i theee i 8 change in the Corporation’s

estimalg of the amount expecied o be payable under a residual value guarantes, i the Comporation changes is

assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, exiensson of enmenabion opbon of il thens s a revised n-subsiance

Eoicl iotolt Pdryrleril.

Wit the ket Ealblily i ng-mldedanid i thes winy, 3 ObinéSpdniing adhusimgal £ made 10 e Chmyng amound of the
right-of-usse assel, or s recosded in peofit or koss i the camying amount of the right-of-use assel has been reduced 1o nil.

The Coeporatinn presents nght-ol-use assels a5 8 separabe ne lem and keace Eabdilies within "Dans and Domosengs” @
th stabement of Srndal positaon.

Tha Coorporation has elecied not fo recognise right-of-use assets and beate Eabilities lor leases of low-value assets and
short-lerm leases. The Corporalion recogreses the lease payments associaled with these bases as an expense on a
strangiht-ne bages over the lease e,
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7 Revenue and Income

Revenue sircams

o P
¥ 1

Pereanoe om contracts with cusboamans
Grants recewed (under AASE 15) 13.500.166 12,086,020
Gt Balancts a1 1 July 5.676.086 4946218
Grant balances at 30 June (B AT0.521) (5.676.086)
13005 7351 11,356,152
Fee income 112,698 245 724
13118429 11,601.676

Oifr Pt

Grants and donaions [under AASE 1058) - -
Inerest 80,100 83582
Sundry = .
13198529 11,685.458

Performance obligations and revenus recognition polickes

Ravenue from conbracts with cusiomers i measuned based on the consideration specifed in the coniracts. Revenue is
recognised when contiol over 3 good Of senvice i ransiemed 10 8 Cusiomeas.

Thee bolowing provades information about the natune and meng of the saisiachon of perormancs obbgabons n conlracts

Girand income

Grants (obher than certain capital granis) are accounted lor under AASE1S where grani income anises from an
agrepmenl whath i enlonteabie and contiens sulltently speche pérormance obigabons AS futh, the fenémus S
recognised when gach perigrmance obligalion i satshied.

Each perfomance obligation i consdenad 10 ensung that the recogniion of revenys reflects the transier of control and
willhan funding agieements, thehe may be some peromancs obisgaton whene controd ranclers 2l & posnd in Bmse and
others which hapve conlinuous: ransior of control over the e of the contract.

Where conirod s ransiered over teme, generally the input methods, besng edher costs oF time incumed, are consadened
it MOS! APOAOPARIE MEhodS b relect the: rangier of Dengls.

Filr OO

Rervoruee angang Ingm hees i recogrised al a point in lrmg whon the pedonmance obiigation is completed. and the
CUSIMET feceres the benefl of the senices Dewng prowiced.

The performancs obigaton relales 10 the Speciiic Senices provided 1 e Cushome.

As amounts are biled 10 the cusiomer upiront, these are rEcOpNised as & contract kabilty untl aher the meeting has
takon place and the Corporation has a right to payment.
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8 Contractors and consultants

2028 2024
L] E
Accountng and auditing 44000 43,359
Anthropoiogeal 597 382 342182
Legal 2303622 1,330,445
im 12,742 6488
Other 423,085 361,578
3,380 831 2.083.972
9 Employee expenses
2025 2024
5 $
Wages. salanes 4631658 4,526,239
Leave and other enttigments 105260 (25.719)
Superanmuakon BE3 614 GF1LBT3
Professional development and training 75,309 110,671
Fringe benefis tax 7.142 4799
Other employes eapenses 16846 14.375
5519828 5.302 038
10 Service expenses
2025 2024
$ $
Admirestrabon 412504 44275
Comemunicaions 360 369 255 684
PEC suppon 2016259 i.846, 160
Repars and mantenanca 18,170 8418
Supples and consumables 91,196 o1,461
Other 91,093 79232
2.990.617 2.685.431
11 Other expenses
2025 034
- 4
Managed grant gxpenses 143,078 296 BES
Proponeni oapdnses 83,5910 218581
=26 988 515870
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12 Cash and cash equivalents

ot ] frovel |

3 5

Cash on hand 2397 3.259

Cash at bank 8.555.003 7418188

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash fows 8.557 400 TA21 447
13 Trade and other receivables

Current *H;F Hﬂ:

Tirache redbrvales 214277 242 168

Less: Alpsance lor impasment kosses . &

214277 242,168

Deposits 100 2380

GST receable 191 311 133013

405 688 377,561

Expecied credd loss assessment lor cusiomers at 30 June 2025

The Corporatinn apphes the AASE 9 samplfed moded of recognisang Betime expecied credil losses or all rade

recehcables &% these Bems do not hive a significant inancing component.

in meisuning the expeched cnedil losses, the irade rectarables hive been assessed on a collectinee bases a5 they
possess shared credi risk characierisiics. They have been geowped based on the days past due and, also acconding i

debior type.

Thar Corporabion does nol alidws ior werite off foom (owermemial grants reCeiable, 34 detaull has i ooDumsd.

T expdchod kods e and Bated on i plymenl prolle Ior $ales ower the pasl 12 months bedong 30 June 2025 as
wall as the cormesponding histoncal credit losses durning thal period. The hestorcal rales ane adpusied 1o reflect cument
and lofwand-ookng Matroeohnirmes Eaciors afleimg the cusionmers abiity b0 Setthe B SOl Outstandang.

The Corporation has identiied age of cusiomer relationship and type of deblor 1o be the most relevant factors and

accoedingly adjusts historical koss rales lor sxpecied changes in these factors. However, given the shod period exposed
o credi sk, the mpaci of these macroeconomas tacions has not been consadered saigniican wilhen Bhe neporing penod.

Trade recesvables are wrilien off (Le. derecogrised) when there i no reasonable expectaton of recovery. Falure 1o
kg paymment within 180 days from the irvoice date and Fadung 10 engage with the Corporation on aliematag paymoent
arrangements amongst others are considened indcalons of no reasonable expectation of recoverny.

On the above bass the expecied credt 1055 ke rade recenvables as at 30 June 2025 is nll

14 Prepayments
2028 2024
§ 5
IS A T4 376 B2 B50
Pt B483 8217
Other 140 21,345
82999 112,452
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16 Right-of-use assels

Reconciiation of canrying amount

e %
Cost
Balance at 1 July 2023 207,926 J07.52%
Addition — Walkes Sireet 12075 12,075
Balance 8 30 June 2024 320 001 320 001
Bakanoe al 1 July 2024 20,001 320,001
Additon — Walker Siresi (remeasurerment) 2668 2668
Balance at 30 June 2025 322 658 322 B89
Depreciation and impairment
Balance al 1 July 2023 (40.073) (40.073)
Depreciation for the year (81.571) (81.571)
On desposals - .
Balance al 30 June 2024 {121, 644) {121 644)
Balance at 1 July 2024 [121.544) (121.644)
Depraciaton 1o the year (81.682) (81.682)
O disposals - .
Balance at 30 June 2025 (203 328) (203 32%)
Carrying amounts
AL 30 June 2024 198 357 198 357
AL 30 June 2025 119,343 119,343

Ther Comporalion keates offios space af 122 Walier Streed lor its Towngwile office under 3 kease agreement of 4 years
ending 1 December 2026 with an opion o exdend for 4 years. The leass condains an annual pricing mechanssm based

on movements in the CPI at each anniversary date.
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17 Intangible assets

Reconciliation of carrying amount

mmmm

Balance af 30 June 224

Balance ai 1 July 2024

Balance af 30 June 2025

Amortization and impairment
Balance al 1 July 2023
Amaeitzsation lod the year

On detposals
Balance al 30 June 2024

Balance at 1 July 2024
Armaprtesaton lor the year

Balance af 30 June 2025

Carrying amounts
AL 30 June 2024
AL30 June 2025

18 Financial instruments - fair values

Accounting classilications and fair values

Decumaent
-‘m Ohapr godtwrmry Todal
5 t 5
391,696 20,195 411 89
391 696 20,185 411891
391 696 20,195 411891
7.200 T.200
258 896 20,185 419,081
1286 305) 2.602) (295, 907)
(49, 802) (5. 746) (55.548)
10 1 1
(&35, 107) (15, 348) [351.455)
(31.935) [£.847) (36,782
(358.0482) (20, 185) (388237
55,583 4 BT &0, 436
30 854 - 30 854

The lollowing table shows the camying amounts of hnancal assets and knancal kabdites Since all inancial assets and
fnancial kabdtes ar0 not measured at tar value, ie. thoy ane moasured al amortsod cosl. the carmying amounts ane

reasonable appeomainng of lar valee.

Financisl adsels medduied a1 Smoised ool

Ciicth andl Ciih quinialénts

Other inmvestmant — term Copos4s

Tirdudd and il rédlivablis

Financial liabilitles measured al amoriised cosl

Trade and othar payables

Contract kabdtes

Carrying Mmoun]
0 o2 |
5 §
B.557.400 TA21.447
25,300 25,300
405 B8 377 561
—0EN0  TR20008
655,767 338,461
134,435 215467
6,349 367 5858 552

Fe]
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19 Trade and other payables

ot rad fro1rd ]
] £
Trade payables G55, TET 238461
Liabekiy bor anmeal beave 610,746 450 568
PAYG payable 93813 216
Payroll kabdites 366, T42 242,762
1,727,068 1.081.307
20 Conlract liabilities
20ES Foirs ]
5 $
Grants under AASE 15 6. 170,521 5,676,086
Amounts recedved in advance (proponent ends) 178,846 182 465
5.349.367 5.858 552
21 Employee benefils
ot ¥ i v ]
$ 5
Cumrent
Long senace keave 507.097 S50 584
INOn-CLirmel
L] Safvics ki 72616 b6 936
Balance a1 1 July 635,520 656410
Prowvision made during the year 75,158 58,134
Provisions used during the year (131,005) {119.024)
Balance at 30 Juna 579.713 B35 5340
Long service leave

Ther pecrvision flor kong senice leave repeesents the Compomabton’s best estimale of the future benelit thal emphryees
have eamed. The amount and bming of the assocated Outhows i UNCEIMaN and dependant on empidySes attasnng the
required years of Senvitiss. Whend the Conporataon nd longer hues the abiity 1o deler sellembnl of the oblgaion beyond
12 moniths from the reporting date, Eabdities are presented as curment. This would usually ocour when employees ane
expaibid b rdach i nédguantd yiars of SEndil i the 12 monihs InHa repong dase. Ths deddunl rabl uled 16
b the prosont valee of futune benalits: at 30 June 2025 was dotormingd by relenenca to markiet yiolds at the ond
ol the reportng peviod on hegh quality corporate bonds that have matunty dates that appronmale the tmang of the

estematied huture Cash outfiows.



Haorth Ouseenaland Land Council Hatiee Title Representativve Body Aborsginal Corporatson
druruaal Binandisl repo
Four (hg il rihid 00 Juireg 2005

22 Leases

Leases as lesses

Tha Corporaion lwases its Townsville offics af 122 Waker Streel.  The Corporalion has a nental bond over these
premses. The kease is for a period of 4 years with an opion 10 renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are
renviewed each year, based on CP1, and does not inchude a contingent rental

Leases under AASE 16 Fun ] 2024
] 5
Interesd on heade Eakbiltegs
13,993 18,999
Lease laabilaties
it rn ] 2024
k] 5
Cumrend
Lease it S0 099 B3338
Mon-Curnend
Leade IS &4 335 =2 128

iaturity anatysis of fulure lease payments
Lease labiites are payable as foliges:

DES frarret ot

5 % -]

Fuiure Inberest Present

T walue of

lease milndmum

payments LI

paymants

Liss than one year 8850 o402 S0 095
Between one and fve years 47107 2.m 44 336
hibgre Ehan fee years - -

145,608 11,173 134 435
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23 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

e ol
2 ]
heat (defcl) 'surplus (446} HL6F
Adeesimgnis for.
Deprecabon — property. plant Snd equapment 109.353 107.153
AMOrEASon ~ Mtangbies 36,782 55.548
Deepreciabon — nght-of .use assed LR Bi1sM
Gain on sale of property, plani and equipment 225 680
Loss on sale of property. plant and equipment (27 B34) (£5.7289)
199,763 240,300
Changes in:
Trade and other recervables (28.1.27) {289.956)
Prepayments 29453 M) ]
Trade and oiher panrables 45, 761 20,393
Contrac] abaites 490,815 7285968
Pronessons and empiayes benetts (55.807) [20.890)
interey! expende 13,993 18,999
ket cash from operatng actibes 1255 858 716687

24 Relaled parties

The Corporatipn’s main related parbes e the key management persconned and their related partes.

Transactions beteeen relaled partses ane on nommal commencial terms and condifions RO mone (rvoable than those
avalahie 10 othed pares unkess oiheneise Stabed.

Transactons with key manasgement personnel

Key management personngl Comppnsation
The key management personne compensalion comprised the ipkowing:
s 2024
§ 5
Shor-1emm employee benedits 643283 633,641
Postempioyment benefits 91,772 BT.144
Crer long-term benedits 34895 1,663
Termanatoon benélts - .
'M-

Compensaton of the Corporaton's key management personnel nclude salarnes, non-cash benefits and contrbutons 1o
& POS!-eMpIoyMent SUPErannuation Sctumuliion SoCount.

Ll b0 iy ARl Do
Mo loans hang Déen madks 10 kiy managlmanl personns during the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024 nil).
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Koy managomant porsonngl and drocion ransactons

A number of iy management personned, o thes related parses. hold postions in othar endites thal resull in them
hurving control of sagrifcant inSuencn ovnr thede eniles.

A number of these entibes trantacied with the Coporation durning the year. The lerms and condisons of the
ransachons weng no more tavourable than those avadable, or which might reasonably be expected 1o be avadable, n
somelas Bransactons with non-derecior related enbbes on an amm's kength bass

The aggregate valkse of rantactions and outsianding balance relating io deecions and enifies o which thiy haee
control or sigreicant mfiyence werg as follows:

Transacons valkees fr  Balance putstanding as
the year ended 30 June at 30 June

Intomg  Expandds Dbt Creditors

: ] : 1 5 5
Akis Community Co-Dpératheg Society Limied (1) . 430,57
Palm lsdand Aborginal Councl =) . \r.50

i} Dweing the year the Corporation paid resmbyrsements for braved expenses o Abs Community Co-Opermatiee Socisty
Lirnifeah— Angeding Ak was 3 direcior during Bhe year.

(W) Dwering the year the Comporafion paid bor wenue hing costs 10 Paim kdand Aboriginagl Coundcil = Alined Lacey was the
mayod during the fnancal year.

From e o tme direciors. of the Comporation, or thew relaied entiSes, may buy goods: lor the Corporabion. These

parchdes ank on the Same ben e Conditions a5 thie enbéngd wld by other Corporalion enmplondes O Cortlomirs.

25 Expenditure commitments

The Corporalion has expenditusne commatments iotaling 52 208,014 at reporting date, but nol provided for in the
fnancial statlerments. which relate to comporate consuitancy. contested igaton. anthropological foes. unspent PBC
auspice funds and wnspent LAS grants.

26 Subsequent events

Mo matiers or Cincusmestances. have ansen since the end of the financial year which significantly altected or may
sagnefcantly atfect the operasons of the Comporabon, the results of those operabons of the state of attars ol the
Corporaion in futune financial yoars.

27 Auditor's remuneration

2005 24
5 3
Audd sonvicos
Audiors of the Conporatan - Grant Tharmton
Aaai of bnancial Stalements 40,450 37,000
Other reguiatony autit Senices 3,550 6328

44 000 43,328
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Directors’ declaration

in ithe: opinion of the direciors of North Cueensland Land Councl Hative Title Representative Body Aborignal
Corporabon [the "Corporaton”)

-] the financal statements and noles arg in accondancn with the Corporabons [Aborgnal and Tores Sirad
Islandier) Regulalions J0H 7T, indudng

i gHving a brue and lair view of the Corporation’s financial posiion a8 at 30 June 2025 and of s
ipericrnandcs for the fnancial yoar ended on thal dabe; and

] emgalyeg with Austrakan Accounting Standands - Smpified Desdosure Requinements and Bhe
Corporaiions (Aborigingl and Tores Siralf islnder]) Reguladions 2017 and &ty aophcabie delemmnalons
made by the Regstrar of Abonginal Corporations unded Divison 336 of B Coporadons (Aborgnal and
Torres Strast Isfander) Act 2006, and

b v dfe Peasonatis grounds 1o balieve that the Comporaiion will be able fo pay its debls. a5 and when they
becore due and payabie

Signpd iin acoordance with a netolution of B direcions.

a9t Meslpbive 2025
D* [}




Grant Thornton Audit Py Lid
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Independent Auditor’s Report T 817 4045 8888

To the members of North Queensland Land Council Native Title
Representative Body Aboriginal Corporation

Report on the audit of the financial repor

Opinikon

We have audited the nancial report of North Queensiand Land Councl Native Title Representative Body
Aboriginal Conporation (the Comporation), which comprises the stalement of Bnancial position as at 30 June
2025, the statement of comprehenshe incomea, stalement of changes in equety and sialement ol cash fows
for thia year then ended. and notes 1o the inancial statements, including a summany of materdal accounting
polcaes, and the Direcions’ declaraion.

Im oiar oipareoan, the acoompanying inancial repod ol the Conporaion is in accondance with the Corporaiions
[Aborigingl and Tormes Siad klander) Act 2008, intuding:

a géang a bnud and air vigw of the Corporalion’s Financial position as al 30 Jung 2025 and of s
performance for the year ended on thal date; and

b complying with Austraiian Accounting Standands — AASE 1060 General Purpose Financial
Stalerments - Simplied Dischosures: lor For-Prolil and Not-ior-Profil Tiee 2 Endises and the
Comporations (Abonginal and Tormes Siaid klander) Reguiations 2007 and any appicable
dederminations made by the Registrar of Aboriginal Comporations under Dovision 336 of the Act.

Basis for opinion

W conductod our awdl in acoordancs with Ausiralan Auditing Standands. Our regponsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auciior’s Responsshiliies o the Al of the Financial Repot secion
of our report. W are independent ol the Comporation in accordance with the auditor independence
requinements of the Coporalions (Aboriginal and Tomes Sirail kslander) Aot 2006 and the ethical
requiremants of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Boand's APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Prolessional Ascountants (indluding Indépendence Standards] (the Code) that are relévant 1 our dudl of
the financial repod in Australia. 'We hanvve also fulflled our other ethical responsiblities. in accordance with the
Code.

W ity el e St enviclencs we dred ObLained i Sulficien] and Sppecriabe 10 prowids & batis hor or
RO,

W
R 00 )

Cormrt Thaormen At Py L3 ACH 100 F00 S5 5 Boiaiary & rplite] ety of (et Thormi Acaitrals Lomiad A5 41 11T 588 65 ACM 177 454 555
Grmet Trormin selers 1 P Deand Lraier alch B Grard Thomicn st rmd, prowide Ssureros, B i) Sovscry Siridd. 1o Ter hents sy
medery, o ore oF e merrtey frew P conied epuee Gt Thoeioe Aoadrsba Levisd & 0 =weter e of Grand Thoroe teaforal L (GTIL)
OTL el Tub et et g Pt worichavete et T el aich st e o 3 g oyl ety Spewatmnt i hsepond ey P S
frmg GTIL S et prowecy brviond o cherts. GTIL ared B3 meemboer frmy i i e oF el ot inbilesaty o el il e ot il e o
Olers B0 oF Seaerl. I P Acsiraloe Ceeient orly, Pab wi of Pab e Gt Trowmtien iy mede o Gt Thormien Acairals Lo REM 41 137
L, W A VET A5 W e B Aaiakie obackires aod eated eiSes. [Latfy beied by i scheme appenved oo Broleisonal Sy

H



Information olher than the financial repor and awditor's report theneon

The dinpcions ang mesponsible kor th ofer Pformaton. The ofher information oomprses the iRfamabon ndkided
in the Corporaion’s. annual report for Bhe year ended 30 June F005, bot doses nol inchade e Snancial nepor and
oo acitor's neport thereon.

Ouir opsrson on B Bnancial neport doss not Cower The offesd ndoematbon &nd sccondingly we do noll expoess amy
form of assurance Conciusion hemon,

I conmecion with cuf sud of the fnancial report, our resporesbidity B 10 nead B ot ERTESON Fealabis ot
s clade of Bhiss et aend, i dodng 50, considler whpther the offeer informadion it malenally nconsient with the
ENancidl report Of our knowiedgs obtanad in the audit or otherwine appears to be malerialy mésstated

I, based on S wiork wee Fane parfonmesd, we concluce that then s 2 mabenal misstatement of this olfer
informalion, we ane Pequined o repo thal iact. W herse nothing o repon in thiss regand.

Responsibilities of the directomn’ for the financial report

The direciors of the Coporation ane responsitle lor the preparalion of the Bnancial repor thal gives a e and
fade wierer in aocordancs with Australken Accourding Standands and the Corporaions (Abongingl and Tormes S
Isdandier) Ach S006 and for such indemal condeol 3 the dreciors dederming b necessany o enable the preparalion
o the financial report thal gives a true and ke viess and 5 s from matenial misstabemsnd, wiiihe du b Faud
OF QTOE,

In prepanng the fnancial report, the directons ane resporsible for assessing the Corporadon’s ability fo contmue
85 3 going concem, dsclosing as apphcable, maliers rekated b going conoam and using the going conoem
basis of acoouniing uniess the direcions et intend 1o Ryuetads e Corporaton of 10 s operafions, of hane
oo realstic afematve bul o do 0.

Auvditor's responsiblities for the awdit of the financial report

Our obiectives are 1o obkain reasonabis 35surance about whether the financial report a5 & whole & free From
material misstaberment, whaher dos o freod o eoor, and o Bsue an audior's Report Bl indudss SUF GpEeen
Rieasonable atsurancs id & hgh kessd of esarance, bt s not a guaranbes thal an auodil conducied in sccordance
with the Aushralkan Audling Slandands will ahaays dedect a mabenal Mttt whe f edis Moaatalemants
can arise o iraod of ermor &hd e conscared malerial i, ndividualy o i B afiregate, iy Could
reanonably be expaciad 10 NSuBncs e Soonomic decrsions of wsers taken on the bass. of this fnancial report
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Glossary

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Act 2006
(CATSI Act): Legislation governing the
incorporation and regulation of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander corporations in Australia.

Claimant Application: A legal application made
by a group seeking recognition of native title rights
over a specific area.

Common Law Holders: Individuals recognised
under traditional law and custom as having rights
and responsibilities in relation to land and waters.
Consent Determination: A Federal Court
decision recognising native title rights, made with
the agreement of all parties.

Cultural Heritage Management Agreement
(CHMA): A formal agreement outlining how
cultural heritage will be protected during
development or land use activities.

Deed of Grant in Trust (DOGIT): A form of land
tenure in Queensland where land is held in trust for
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander communities.
Determination: A legal decision by the Federal
Court recognising or rejecting native title rights.

Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ): A maritime
zone extending up to 200 nautical miles from the
coast, over which Australia has special rights
regarding exploration and wuse of marine
resources.

Future Act Determination Application (FADA):
An application to the National Native Title Tribunal
for a decision when parties cannot reach
agreement on a future act.

Indigenous Land Use Agreement (ILUA): A
voluntary agreement between native title groups
and others about the use and management of land
and waters.

Interlocutory  Application: A  procedural
application made during the course of a legal
proceeding, often to change or clarify aspects of
the case.

Mabo Decision: The landmark 1992 High Court
decision recognising native title in Australia for the
first time.

National Native Title Tribunal (NNTT): A federal
body that facilitates native title processes,
including mediation and arbitration.

Native Title Act 1993 (NTA): The legislation that
provides for the recognition and protection of
native title in Australia.

Native Title Protection Conditions (NTPCs):
Conditions attached to exploration permits to
protect native title rights and cultural heritage.
Native Title Representative Body (NTRB): An
organisation recognised under the NTA to assist
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with
native title matters.

Non-Claimant Application: A legal application
asserting that native title does not exist over a
particular area.

Office of the Registrar of Indigenous
Corporations (ORIC): The regulator for Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander corporations under the
CATSI Act.

Prescribed Body Corporate (PBC): A
corporation established to manage native title
rights after a determination is made.

Queensland Representative Body Alliance
(QRBA): A coalition of native title bodies in
Queensland working collaboratively on advocacy
and policy.

Registered Native Title Body Corporate
(RNTBC): A PBC that has been formally
registered to manage native title rights.

Section 24 Notices: Notifications under the NTA
relating to proposed activities that may affect
native title, often involving the “right to comment”.
Section 29 Notices: Notifications under the NTA
involving the “right to negotiate”, typically for
mining or exploration.
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North Queensland Land Council NTRB
Aboriginal Corporation
reception@ngqlc.com.au

1800814 779

www.nglc.com.au

PO Box 679 Cairns North QLD 4870




